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Tuesday, August 27, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning.  My name is James Sidlofsky and I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board.  In today's proceeding I am filling in for Lawren Murray, who is the OEB Staff counsel assigned to this matter.

We are here today for a virtual technical conference on the Enbridge Gas application for approval of costs and the accounting treatment of those costs related to the Integrated Resource Plan and Pilot Project for the City of Sarnia and the village of Point Edward, referred to as the Southern Lake Huron pilot project.

As the parties are aware, the application had initially involved two IRP pilot projects, the Southern Lake Huron and a project in the Parry Sound area.  Enbridge previously updated its evidence in December of 2023 following certain announcements from Natural Resources Canada.  More recently on June 28, 2024, Enbridge Gas filed updates to its prefiled evidence and interrogatory responses after assessing the impacts of the OEB's 2024 rebasing phase 1 decision under Board file number EB-2022-0200.

Enbridge Gas determined that the baseline facility projects for Parry Sound and Southern Lake Huron are no longer in Enbridge Gas' 10-year capital forecast.  Enbridge decided to remove the Parry Sound pilot project and modify the location and scope of the Southern Lake Huron pilot project as detailed in its updated application.  In the Procedural Order No. 4, issued August 13, of 2024, the OEB scheduled a technical conference to allow for follow-up answers to previously answered interrogatories and new questions based on updates of Enbridge Gas' application filed since the original interrogatories were asked.

I will say more about today's session in a moment I would like to begin with a land acknowledgement from our hearings advisor Ashley Sanasie.
Land Acknowledgement


MS. SANASIE:  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  As we gather we acknowledge that we are coming together from diverse regions each with its own Indigenous peoples, ancestral lands, and treaties.  We recognize and honour the Indigenous community through elders past and present as the traditional custodians of these lands.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on these lands and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of them.  Thanks.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  I will remind parties the technical conference do not take place in front of the panel of Board members who are hearing the case, but they are transcribed and the transcript forms part of the record in proceeding.  This session is also being broadcast and will be on air throughout the conference except for breaks and those times, if any, where material that is being treated as confidential is being discussed.

As general matter, I will remind parties that intervenor representatives seeking access to confidential material are required to execute the OEB's form of confidentiality undertaking in accordance with the Board's practice direction on confidential filings.

So far in this proceeding Enbridge has requested confidential treatment of certain items delivered in response to interrogatories.  The OEB hasn't yet confirmed that the material will be kept in confidence, but for the purposes of this technical conference we will be keeping that material confidential.  I would ask that anyone intending to ask questions about the redacted material, pending the OEB's determination, to group those questions in order to minimize the time that we have to close the proceeding.

If we have to go in camera attendance would be restricted to those who have signed the OEB's declaration and undertaking, and if Enbridge proposes that certain individuals not have access to the in camera session we can hear from the parties at that time.  If any confidential material is to be referred to and we have to go in camera then a redacted version of the transcripts will be placed on the public record, but the OEB's disposition of Enbridge's confidentiality request at a later date may affect the form of transcript that will be placed on record.  The other procedural matter I would like to remind parties of is that this is a technical conference, it's not intended to be cross-examination on the evidence, but rather as the OEB stated in procedural order number 4, the technical conference is being held to allow for follow-up answers to previously answered interrogatories and new questions based on updates of Enbridge Gas' application filed since the interrogatory -- excuse me, since the original interrogatories were asked.

Our hearing advisor, Ms. Sanasie, circulated the schedule for today's session.  After parties and OEB Staff provided time estimates.  We intend to follow that schedule with regard to the order of questioning, and as it as it stands it looks like we will conclude by the end of the day.  I ask you to make your best efforts to keep to your estimated times and consider whether it will be possible to shorten those times where someone else may have covered areas in which you had similar questions.

We are planning a 15 minute break in the morning at around 10:45, a one-hour lunch break at noon, and two 10-minute afternoon breaks at 2:30 and 3:55, but we will see how the day goes in order to determine the exact timing of any breaks.

Finally, before we go into appearances, just a few reminders about technical matters because this is virtual setting.  First, I would ask intervenors who are not asking questions to mute their audio and turn off their cameras when witnesses are being questioned by someone else.

Second, while there is a chat function available on the Zoom platform nothing in the chat platform will be recorded or appear on the transcript, so you can send messages to each other or to the group but they will not be transcribed.

Third and I believe everyone may have done this already, we ask that everyone ensure that the name they have associated with their picture right now is their full name and parties so that the court reporter can accurately record what is said.

Finally, for this virtual session we ask that you repeat your name and whom you represent and that will assist our court reporter in transcribing the matter.  That is particularly important if you are stepping in to ask a follow-up question.
Appearances


On that note, I will introduce the members of OEB Staff who are here with me this morning and I will then move on to appearances.  With me today are Alexander Di Ilio, acting manager of application policy and conservation; Stephanie Cheng, one of our advisors in application policy and conservation and case manager for this application; and as I mentioned, Ashley Sanasie, our hearings advisor.

I will now take appearances and I'll follow the order of the schedule.  Pollution Probe?

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Michael Brophy, on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario, FRPO?

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, James, and to the Enbridge team that is there.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.  I will probably end up leaving my camera off because I have got some unstable internet but hopefully we can conduct it just through audio.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks Dwayne.  APPrO?

MR. BOYLE:  Good morning.  Colm Boyle, representing APPrO.  I don't anticipate I will have questions this morning so may be able to forego my time in lieu of someone else.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks Colm.  VECC?

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelley Grice representing the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning Shelley.  OGVG, Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Mike Buonaguro, counsel for OGVG.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Mike.  BOMA, Building Owners and Managers Association?

MR. JARVIS:  Good morning.  Ian Jarvis, representing the Building Owners and Managers Association.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Ian.  Consumers Council of Canada?

MS. GIRVAN:  Good morning.  Julie Girvan, representing the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Julie.  School Energy Coalition?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, representing the School Energy Coalition.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Jay, good morning.  And I believe that is everyone on the list.  Is anyone else in attendance representing an intervenor but not scheduled to ask questions?

MR. BISHOP:  Good morning, James.  Andrew Bishop here from the IESO, not intending to ask any questions today.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Andrew, good morning.  Thanks.  Anyone else before I move over to Enbridge?  Okay, David Stevens, I know you are here for Enbridge.  Perhaps you could introduce yourself and I suggest you introduce your panel as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Thanks very much, Jamie.  Good morning, everybody.  May name is David Stevens I am counsel with Enbridge this morning for the technical conference.  Just to orient everybody, I just want to let you know that we are all in our large room together.  The camera is fixed on the witnesses.  But to the side of the witnesses is a table with me and members of Enbridge's regulatory team.  I will turn my camera on when I am going to be speaking.  And with me are Harris Guinness, Mark Kitchen and Patricia Squires from the regulatory team.

Turning to the witnesses, starting in the front row on the left of your screen is Whitney Wong, specialist, Integrated Resource Planning.  Beside her is Alison Moore, supervisor, Integrated Resource Planning.  Next we have Kurtis Lubbers, supervisor, distribution optimization engineering and finally, in the front row, Bradley Clark, director, engineering.

In the back row behind Whitney, first we have Daniel Johnson, manager, demand side management strategy and policy.  Beside Daniel is Geoff Chung, senior advisor, energy conservation and Integrated Resource Planning.  Next is Alicia Lenny, supervisor, residential technologies and finally, Jane Huang, supervisor, commercial/industrial technologies.
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We filed CVs for each of the witnesses, I believe it was yesterday, so that folks will have that if you want to know more about the roles of each of these folks.

And we don't have any preliminary comments so, with that, we are ready to start with questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  David, thanks.  Anyone else have any preliminary matters before we get started?  Hearing none, I am going to move over to Pollution Probe.  And they are currently scheduled for 70 minutes.  I will be popping back in to record undertaking numbers and exhibit numbers, as needed.

Thank you, very much, and Pollution Probe?
Examination by Mr. Brophy


MR. BROPHY:  Right.  Good morning.  My name Michael Brophy, representing Pollution Probe.  I just will correct James:  we are up for 120 minutes, and -- but 70 minutes before the break.  It is 9:45 and we are starting late on the schedule.  So I would suspect that we would probably take the panel to lunch. but FRPO should be ready.  We will try and go as quick as we can.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Michael.  Sorry about that.  I missed your 15 minutes after the break.  I wasn't trying to cut you down to 70, just yet.

MR. BROPHY:  Already.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  Thanks.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Well, good morning, panel.  I am just going to start with hopefully an easy question.  There is a lot of new faces in relation to IRP on the panel that we haven't seen before.  And I am just wondering, is there anybody on the panel who is not -- whose position is not funded at least in part by IRP?  Or are you all funded by the IRP account.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry.  To be clear, Michael, it is David Stevens speaking:  You are wondering whether the employment-related costs for each of these folks would be included within either the IRP budget or the IRP operating account.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  So, you know, when -- in other concurrent proceedings, they provided lists of positions that are funded in IRP.  And I tried to just do a quick check, and I couldn't find some of these positions.  But maybe things have changed.  I just wanted to validate they are all actually funded, at least in part, by IRP.

And, you know, to make it clear, I just want to understand if people aren't funded, you know, so then they would be funded through O&M or capital or somewhere else, then, you know, are those where the costs would be?  Or are they baked into the IRP costs that we would be seeing for the pilot?

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I guess it sounds like that is two different questions, but I can say and I am sure -- just to try to move things along, I am sure the witnesses can jump in, that at least half of the folks here, probably more than half of the folks here, are not associated with IRP.  We have two people from distribution planning, we have folks from DSM and folks from new technologies.

I mean, you will remember Ms. Huang was speaking to us about ETTF at the technical conference for phase 1 -- or phase 2 rather.  Kurtis and Brad are both in distribution planning.  Daniel, as I mentioned, is in the DSM group.  And Geoff is at least partly in the DSM group.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  And, sorry, Alicia is in new technologies group.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  So maybe I can just get somebody on the panel to confirm that what David has indicated sounds correct?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  I can confirm.  What David listed sounds correct to me.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So about half the folks on the panel are not associated with IRP.

MR. STEVENS:  I think it was six out of eight, Mike.

MR. BROPHY:  Six out of eight are not associated with IRP.  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  And sorry -- and just to be clear, I don't want to be difficult.  But it is not so much they are not associated with IRP.  It is just if you were trying to find where their salary was in a budget structure, it wouldn't be under an IRP heading.  They are all here because they have some association with evaluating and dealing with IRP.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, fair enough.  And we appreciate them being here today.

So then, if the costs for those folks are outside IRP, then it is just a supplement then to help out on the pilot?  Or would those costs be allocated over to the IRP account?  Maybe you can just help me with that.

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  So individuals who are involved to some degree with IRP aren't necessarily funded in whole or in part by the IRP accounts which reflect, you know, the general nature of the work that is associated with IRP.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you, for that.  So, yes, I will just -- I will stop with that.  I just wanted to get some clarity on who the panel was and their link with IRP.

So hopefully another easy question:  So page 1 of the application -- you don't need to pull it up, but it indicates that Enbridge is requesting an order --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Michael, can I just interrupt and ask a follow‑up question:  The IRP budget, pilot budget, the amount that you are asking the ratepayers to pay for the pilot, are we -- is that going to include costs from each of the eight of these witnesses?  Some amount?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  There has been work on the pilots this year, and as the decisions on time that has been focused on the pilot across departments has not been definitively made at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have an allocation system where you record time.  Right?  You record hours spent on stuff that is not in your primary area of responsibility.

Are all the people involved in this recording time, so that it can be shifted over to IRP, to this pilot project, later?

MS. MOORE:  So I would just clarify that individuals on this panel do not record hours associated with IRP.  Our cost allocations and IRP perspective are on an FTE basis that represents the level of work that is associated with IRP and the individual roles that are assigned accordingly.

MR. BROPHY:  Maybe we can move on.  It is going to be very tight, trying to stay within our time limits.  So I just need to try and move forward, if that is okay?

Okay.  So the updates application page 1, I mentioned, Enbridge is asking for an order or orders approving the cost consequences of an IRP plan for an  IRP Pilot Project.  So I am just trying to understand that.  So is Enbridge requesting preapproval of the cost related to the pilot to be done so that they can be cleared from the IRP deferral account automatically?  Or would the OEB need to do an assessment of prudency at the time.  Right?

Is it a preapproval without any OEB scrutiny later?  Or would that scrutiny come when Enbridge clears the accounts?  Maybe you can help me with that.

MR. STEVENS:  Hi, Michael, it is David Stevens:  I think it is probably more in the nature of a legal question.  So I will take this one.  I think this is meant to be like an LTC application.  So there is an approval in principle of the costs, but the actual costs are subject to review, in this case, at the time that a deferral account is being cleared.  In an LTC, it would be at the time things are going into rate base.  In this case the review of actual costs will happen when the account is put forward for clearance.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, it is not approving the cost, those will be done later but it is an overview of the project that includes some cost estimates?

MR. STEVENS:  It is an approval of the concept, if I can put it that way.  That the approach and the representative costs are reasonable and that the project should succeed, Enbridge would have the expectation that should its experience mimic what was put forward in this application then there ought to be no concern for clearance.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I would like to move on to Pollution Probe 17A if maybe we can pull that up, and just while that is being pulled up, the response to Pollution Probe 17A shows the costs that have already been incurred in relation to the two pilots, so the Parry Sound and Southern Lake Huron.  Yes, that is the table there.  Great.  Thank you very much.  So, are the costs in this table that have already been incurred already in the IRP variance account or are they part of this application requesting the Board to deem that they are reasonable and to be cleared at a future date?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  So, these costs have not been cleared as part of the IRP deferral account.  They will be, I think as noted here, they will be recorded in the account starting in 2024 upon approval of this OEB application for clearance.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So if they have costs --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a follow-up on that too.  My apologies.

MR. BROPHY:  Go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Parry Sound costs, you are not asking for approval in principle of those costs.  Right?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  So, as a part of the application we did remove Parry Sound from this pilot project application.  However as noted here, costs related to the development of the Parry Sound project, if you scroll just further down in part C, will be recorded in the deferral account and will request disposition in the 2024 clearance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that.  That's the answer to the previous question.  The question I am asking is:  You are asking for approval in principle of the cost consequences of Southern Lake Huron.  I take it that because you have withdrawn Parry Sound this whatever it is 50 million dollars or something like that, $50,000 rather, is not being requested for approval in principal?

MR. STEVENS:  Not in the -- Jay, it is David Stevens speaking.  There is no approval requested in term of the Parry Sound related costs within this pilot application.  They will be recorded into one of the IRP accounts for later disposition and we will seek clearance later, but we are not asking for any sort of prejudgment or preclearance through this process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then just a logistics question.  So, if these costs were already incurred in the previous few years why aren't they already recorded in the IRP variance account?  Where are they sitting if they are not in there?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  I will have to double check as to where exactly the costs are sitting.  But the intention was since we had filed the application in 2023 at the time we thought we would have an approval from the Ontario Energy Board on this application and that would be the appropriate time to include them in the deferral -- disposition of deferral and variance account proceeding.  As we have seen in the subsequent updates that have been required to the application, we have decided to not put those forward in those applications to clear those costs at this time, but I will have to -- I am not familiar exactly which account they are sitting in at the moment.  We just haven't put them forward for clearance for disposition.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  That would be great if you can do that if we can get an undertaking just to provide that clarity that would be terrific.

MR. STEVENS:  So, to be clear, Mike, Enbridge will advise as to where the previously incurred IRP pilot development costs are currently recorded?

MR. BROPHY:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will give that undertaking number JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING JT1.1:  TO ADVISE AS TO WHERE THE PREVIOUSLY INCURRED IRP PILOT DEVELOPMENT COSTS ARE CURRENTLY RECORDED

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you very much.  So, while we are on the topic, Enbridge had indicated it has already installed some meters.  And one of the reasons that you are preferring to move forward with the Southern Lake Huron project over Parry Sound or others is that there was more meters installed for Southern Lake Huron, I think you said 15 percent or some number in that ballpark.  But when I look at that table 1, I am not seeing any numbers for Southern Lake Huron related to metering, so I am having trouble understanding how it could have more meters installed if there is no costs incurred yet.  Can you help me with that?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers.  So, the Southern Lake Huron pilot project area has existing encoder-receiver transmitters on a majority of the general service customers, so they are already installed.  So that is why you don't see those install costs.

MR. BROPHY:  So, that is just a normal course of practice for Enbridge or was it done specifically for IRP?

MR. LUBBERS:  They were existing in that system already.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And so, why would those be put on residential customers that is not a normal thing, is it?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  So, they were there preexisting from previous years, previous initiatives, they weren't directly tied to the IRP pilots.  Installation of ERTs is not typical across the entire system.  They are usually installed in hard to read areas or where access issues are.  But there are some legacy areas where there was a higher density of ERTs that were previously installed.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And I guess we can ask this now.  Although I will have to find the reference.  Actually, let's come back to it in a sec because I have the reference further down here.

MR. QUINN:  Mike, while you're looking for the reference can I just ask -- this is Mr. Quinn here.  Can I ask Brad:  Can you confirm that the ERTs in the Sarnia area were part of a pilot project to determine, and potentially justify, the additional utilization of ERTs throughout the system?

MR. CLARK:  The ERTs there were part of a previous program which predates me to be honest.  I am not sure the original intent apart from being able to collect some additional data in certain areas.  But, as I said, they weren't connected to the IRP plan.  They have been there for some time.

MR. QUINN:  I understand that because we have asked this question in past proceedings.  Can you undertake just to go back and confirm that in the late 1990s Union at the time was trying to do a pilot to justify the expansion of, at the time, automated meter reading and was using Sarnia as the test pilot for that location?  Could you go back and confirm that and ideally provide the reference, any reference to evidence on the record about the success or lack thereof of that pilot?

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens speaking, Dwayne.  I am struggling to understand how a 1990s pilot, assuming that is what happened, how that fits with what we are looking at within this 2024 pilot project?

MR. QUINN:  Part of the justification for that has been discussed in many proceedings, the rebasing proceeding and in the IRP task force, is about the effect of utilization of automated meter reading or, call it what you will, in this case they are referred to as ERTs.  And we are interested in some of that history because it keeps coming back that Enbridge is seeking to expand the utilization and it may be done in conjunction with a pilot project for IRP, which we are supportive of.  But broad expansion of that type of technology is not ‑‑ Enbridge has not been able to provide a cost‑benefit analysis that demonstrates efficacy.  So I will be satisfied with, at this point, the confirmation that it was part of a pilot that never went forward, if Enbridge can at least provide that confirmation and, ideally, just a reference number to where it advised the Board of such.  But if that number can't be found, just confirmation of the original intent and the lack of success of the pilot.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I really don't see it fitting into this project.  I mean, Enbridge has explained there is a higher penetration of ERTs within this zone, than others.  So it is an appropriate place to undertake as IRP pilot.

As you will recall, within phase 3 of the rebasing case, Enbridge will be reporting on the status of pilot efforts to look at automated -- the AMI initiative.  And Enbridge may in the future bring forward an AMI application.

But none of that is happening in this case.  And I think we are sort of losing sight about what this case is about, if we start venturing into finding ‑‑

MR. QUINN:  I am not going debate it, David.

MR. STEVENS:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Your perspective is different from ours in terms of what this is about.  I was just trying to help Mike because I would have thought that somebody on this panel should have that knowledge.  Given the fact that Enbridge is still analyzing AMI, they would know that there has been some history with failed attempts.  But if you don't even want to confirm that for the record, I am not going to waste any more of Mike's time.

Sorry, Mike, I was just trying to be helpful.

MR. BROPHY:  So maybe we can just zero back in on the question I had.  So thank you for the information on how these meters ended up there.

I noted in the project, the proposed pilot project schedule, that recruitment of participants would begin around Q2 of 2025.  And so if you going to only start recruiting participants in 2025, there is no way to know if any of the homes with those meters on would actually be agreeing participants.  Correct?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers:  So Mike, as we have discussed in here before, we have been gathering the hourly data in this, the SLH pilot area, already, nearly two years worth of data.  We have converted ‑‑ and one of the challenges associated with these ERTs is you have to convert them to be able to read hourly data.  So we have done that on many of the routes, most of the routes that we -- in the pilot area.

We have been gathering hourly data, like I said, for almost two years.  And we should have baseline data for many of the general service customers.

MR. BROPHY:  So you would attempt to try to get those homes with those meters to become participants, because you have got the data.  But at this time, you are not sure whether they would agree to be participants or not.  Is that true?  For the pilot...

MR. LUBBERS:  We have the data for a majority of the customers.  So any of the customers that do participate, we should have baseline data for them.  And that is one of the main drives for pushing forward with this pilot area, is we have so much baseline data.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But, you know, we just don't know today because you haven't approached them to ask them if they would be participants in the pilot.  So it could be that none of them agree to be participants.  I you think you would make every effort to get as many of them to be participants, but we might be starting from zero as far as metering, is what I am trying to suggest.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What is the percentage of customers that have ERTs right now, in the target area? Isn't it something like 90 per cent?

MR. LUBBERS:  It is a very high percentage.  Kurtis Lubbers:  It is a majority of them, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yes, maybe you could just undertake to provide that reference, and then we could just move on without the percentage.

MR. STEVENS:  Mike, it is David Stevens speaking:  We will advise as to what percentage of customers within the Southern Lake Huron project area have installed ERTs.

MR. BROPHY:  Right.  Thank you, very much.

MR. STEVENS:  And just before we move on, can we get an undertaking number for that, please?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, we can.  That is Undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING JT1.2:  TO ADVISE AS TO WHAT PERCENTAGE OF CUSTOMERS WITHIN THE SOUTHERN LAKE HURON PROJECT AREA HAVE INSTALLED ERTS.


MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  Thank you, for that.

One of the things we were concerned about, and maybe that -- if there is a very high degree of metering, this would resolve that.  But if you get participants that sign up for a pilot and you don't have the historical data, then you won't have historical data to compare to information over the pilot.  So then that would then put you at using, say, using district station metering or something else to then, you know, aggregate and try to, you know, sort out those impacts.

Is that what you would end up doing, if you didn't have historical data for participants?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers:  Can I just confer with my colleagues for a second?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers:  So Michael, you are correct, there could be some general service customers that do not have baseline data, and will -- we won't have the baseline data to analyze the post-ETTE assessment.  This should be a smaller percentage, versus the customers with baseline data.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And given that the IRP initiative is to reduce or manage load on the system rather than, you know -- I know it all comes from individual customers, but it is really the system you are talking about, then you would still be able to use, say, your district or other meters on the system to be able to aggregate those results and understand the impact.  Correct?  You wouldn't have to write off the ones that didn't have metering before?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  Yes, that is correct.  So we have a variety of information available to us.  Those that have ERTs and did participate in the program, those who have ERTs and did not and, also, our other input information into the system.  So all of that would be looked at, together.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you, for that.  Okay.

So just changing gears a little bit:  So as I understand from the updated application, you have decided to drop Parry Sound, keep Southern Lake Huron.  They were both part of an exercise Enbridge undertook following phase 1 of the rebasing to update or redo your 10‑year capital plan, and neither Parry Sound nor Southern Lake Huron are currently in your 10‑year capital plan.  Do I have that right?

MR. LUBBERS:  Sorry, could you ask that one more time?  Sorry about that.

MR. BROPHY:  So Enbridge indicated that it undertook a review of its capital plan following the phase 1 rebasing decision.  And I understand out of that redo of Enbridge's capital plan you removed projects, including Parry Sound and the Southern Lake Huron.  Is that accurate?  Or are they still in the 10-year capital plan?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers.  So, we are no longer forecasting the facility need in either of the pilot areas, Michael.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, they have been removed from -- would it be correct to say they have been removed from the 10-year capital plan and the asset management plan.  Is that equivalent or am I stating it wrong?

MR. LUBBERS:  Can I confer with my panel here for one minute?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. LUBBERS:  Yes, that is confirmed Michael they are no longer in the plan.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And that would have been part of a broader exercise, so there would have been a bunch of projects removed and those were just two out of the list.  Isn't that correct, or were these the only two that were removed?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  No, that is correct.  So, this was a broad update to the system reinforcement plan or the SRP.  And there were number of projects that were impacted.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So, there would still be projects in the plan that Enbridge is intending to do.  Why wouldn't you target one of those rather than projects that aren't in the plan anymore?  There must be lots of options available.

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  So, if I can take you to Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1, and page 7, paragraph 18, so this is the up front section in our evidence where we discuss the basis for determining that Southern Lake Huron would be the optimal pilot geography to move forward in.  So, Enbridge, in consultation with the technical working group, determined that the learnings for demand side alternatives can be better achieved by focusing on Southern Lake Huron given the widespread existing encoder-receiver transmitter technology or ERTs, as they have been referred to, in place to enable effective data collection.

Really the concentration and scale of the ERT technology in Southern Lake Huron avoids the time and cost of incremental ERT implementation and allows us to deploy the pilot following the OEB decision armed with that existing baseline data for the assessment of peak hour impacts for the demand side alternatives.  And this was determined by Enbridge in consultation with the technical working group.

I would say while underlying system needs were part of the initial criteria that was broadly considered for the pilot project alternatives, the primary objectives are to gather learnings regarding demand side alternatives rather than to address a specific system constraint using the most cost effective alternative.  So, as a pilot this will -- we felt that this geography will provide data and information towards the two primary learning objectives in an optimal way to be applied to the IRP assessment and future IRP plans more broadly.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, I think I understand why you have landed on Southern Lake Huron over Parry Sound.  And then, based on what you said the Enbridge criteria are, you selected Southern Lake Huron over other projects that are still on your capital 10-year plan because Southern Lake Huron has the metering and other areas don't.  Is that why Southern Lake Huron is better than projects still on your capital plan?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  That is correct.  So, the existing ERTs as well as their associated baseline data provide a significant efficiencies in terms of the timeline being able to deploy the pilot project following the OEB decision and being armed with that baseline data to be able to assess peak hour demand reduction.  And it also provides us time and cost benefits in not using budget and to install incremental ERTs which is a benefit in the Southern Lake Huron area and that -- and we can rather redeploy budget and focus our budget for the pilot on best achieving learnings from the pilot.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And if I can move on to ED number 6, the response.  There is a table in that if we can pull it up.  And in the updated -- it is an updated version of ED6, table of measure estimates.  I think that -- is that the table, 6.  Yes.  We can leave it there for a minute.  Okay.  So, if I just pick a row as an example, I am going to use row 6, the gas heat pump example.  It has got various information such as 7.6 M3 per hour reduction and other information as well.  So, for this table, where did that information come from to populate the table?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  That information came from the calculation in terms of the various assumptions that were used to build up the peak reduction per hour values there.

MR. BROPHY:  But is it external reports or just some people in Enbridge that, kind of, guess what the numbers were?  Or, like, where did the calculations come from?

MR. CHUNG:  Can I have a moment to confer?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  Mike, it is David Stevens speaking.  Just while they are looking at this, I just want to confirm you are asking in particular about the peak reduction column?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, hat was an example, right?  Because I am kind of really focused on the point.  I am interested in the data for all of it but that was one that really, I think, was the easiest to ask about.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  So, in the particular assumptions for all of these technologies was detailed in part B of this response for ED 6.  So, for gas heat pumps you can see on -- that would be on page 4 of ED 6.  So, if you go down to page 4 on this exhibit you can see the description of how the peak gas reduction was calculated.  So, it is a combination approach that was detailed in Exhibit D, Tab 1 Schedule 2, paragraph 72 on that overall approach and the specific assumptions that were used to build the peak reduction is detailed further in that paragraph.

MR. BROPHY:  So, I see -- and I did see this.  It gave a kind of a general flow on how things were calculated but it doesn't actually indicate where the information came from.  So, like, you know, if we use the gas heat pump as the example you would be picking a model that, I guess, exists today and there would be specifications for it.  And there's, like, all the details of the specifications that would go into the math that is described here are not included in this response.  So, those are just materials that you have somewhere else or where did they come from?

MS. HUANG:  Jane Huang.  I can explain the maths behind the numbers.  As indicated in the IR response, part B, if we are referring to specifically the peak gas reduction for gas heat pumps, we first establish a base case where we are using a blended furnace, AFU year, 0.9, and water heater efficiency at 0.8, based on an 80/20 split.  So that is really versus a typical residential energy user profile.  So that is the base case, where we establish the blended efficiency.  So that is the base case.

On the comparison case, we took the VICOT to be 20, gas heat pump, gas utilization efficiency curve.  So that is provided by the manufacturer.  And then we took the efficiency at minus 25C, which is the design temperature for the Southern Lake Huron area.  And we then arrived at the efficiency improvement using a formula, 1.0 minus the base blended fuel divided by the efficiency at minus 25 of the gas heat pump.  So that is the formula to arrive at the peak gas reduction percentage.

And in the table, back to the table, then we apply that percentage reduction at minus 25C times a typical, an average peak hour for a residential customer, to arrive at a 5.9 cubic metres per hour number.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, okay.  So I think I understand what you did.  The pilot project is to look at opportunities to reduce peak load.  And in the Southern Lake Huron area, the application indicates that that is winter heating.  Right?

MS. HUANG:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  So why would average use calculations be of any value in determining peak load reductions?

MS. HUANG:  Actually, can you clarify your question, Michael?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, you just walked through the math on how you did the calculation, and you said that you used the average use.

MS. HUANG:  Sorry.  Maybe I should clarify:  The percentage of saving is calculated based on minus 25C outdoor temperature, which is the design temperature for Southern Lake Huron.  And so that is a percentage reduction.

To arrive at the actual peak cubic metre per hour peak reduction, we need to also multiply that by a peak hour usage for a residential customer.  And that is what I said, about an average residential peak hour usage multiplied by a percentage, at minus 25C.

MR. BROPHY:  So maybe just to make it easier, can you just provide a copy of the specifications for the gas heat pump that you were using for these calculations?  Can you do that?

MS. HUANG:  Just to clarify, so you want the thing, performance curve for the VICOT B20 they use for the residential gas heat pump peak reduction calculation?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, the full specification, including the curve for the gas heat pump you are proposing to use.

MR. STEVENS:  So, Jane, is that something that Enbridge has?

MS. HUANG:  Yes, we do have it.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something that Enbridge is allowed to share?

MS. HUANG:  That, I -- that, we need to check with the manufacturer, for consent.

MR. STEVENS:  I see.  If the manufacturer will permit us to share that information, Mike, then we are happy to do that.  So we with can give an undertaking on that basis, to provide the two VICOT GUE curve specifications that are referenced on page 4 of the response to ED 6.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And that would be the product specifications, including the curves.  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  We can do that, again, subject to the caveat I provided.

MR. BROPHY:  I am fine with that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It will be JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING JT1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE TWO VICOT GUE CURVE SPECIFICATIONS THAT ARE REFERENCED ON PAGE 4 OF THE RESPONSE TO ED 6.

MR. QUINN:  Mike, it is Dwayne, here.  Are you going to move off this table at this point?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If I may, can I just follow up with a question?  Because the manufacturer specifications, which are public information by the way, don't -- it doesn't get me to where I am trying to understand this table.

If we compare just lines 3 and 5 -- let me preface this:  The assumptions that go behind the analytics are very important.  So what I am trying to do is figure out what the assumptions are and, if it is going to take an undertaking here, I am happy to receive it that way.

But if you look at a cold climate air source heat pump, your peak reduction is 16.3 metres cubed per hour.  First off, are you assuming that the furnace has been removed from that location that has the cold climate air source heat pump applied?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  We are assuming that the gas heating system is removed, or not used for the cold climate air source heat pump.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That is helpful.  So if we move to No. 5, or line 5, simultaneous hybrid heating, you are in that case assuming that the furnace is not removed.  Let's start there.  Correct?

MS. LENNY:  Alicia Lenny:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, in that case, you are somehow getting a higher peak hour reduction.  When gas is presumed to be in place and utilized on a peak day, then you are, if you remove the furnace.  That is in my view, unless there are some assumptions behind this, that is illogical.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  I would like to point out in this table that the peak reduction column is a cumulative value of all of the number of units and the associated savings for all of those units.  So these can't be compared, one to one, because it is multiple units embedded within this table.

For example, for a cold climate air source heat pump, there is only 20 units.  Comparatively to gas heat pump for residential, I believe it is only -- I believe Alicia would -- how many?

MS. LENNY:  For simultaneous hybrid heating, there are 40 units, compared to the cold climate air source heat pumps, where there are 20.

MR. QUINN: So that is an example of assumptions that are behind this table.  Can Enbridge by way of undertaking provide the assumptions that would help people to understand fully what this table is comparing.  Because, to me, it looks persuasive that the hybrid is the best option, but that is only because you are assuming there is double the heat pumps that are simultaneous versus cold air -- cold climate air source heat pumps.

So we would like to get the assumptions that were behind this table and how these numbers were determined.

MR. BROPHY:  That would be helpful to Pollution Probe, as well, because I am just realizing that in the peak reduction column, I thought that was per unit.  But now that you are saying it is different amounts of units, it sounds like it is a cumulative number.

So it would be really helpful to understand that, and even to get a copy, if that peak reduction column is accumulative across the units you plan to install, to also have a column added that shows the peak reduction per unit would be very helpful.

MR. STEVENS:  Michael, it is David Stevens speaking, and Dwayne:  There are a number of assumptions already spelled out, but we can provide by way of undertaking a list of other meaningful assumptions that we have not already articulated in the response to ED No. 6.  And we could also provide a column showing the peak reduction by participant, I suppose.

But I mean, obviously, that is going to be quite different depending on the measure.  But I assume that it is something -- and witnesses, please correct me if I am offering something you can't do.  But I assume that is something we could provide.

MR. CHUNG:  We can definitely provide it on a per unit basis, similar -- to do on a best-efforts basis, to provide all of the different assumptions.

MR. QUINN:  That is helpful to a point, Mike.  I am sorry, that I am looking for specificity.  I am going to ask two questions.  One is --

MR. BROPHY:  Can we just get the undertaking first?

MR. QUINN:  No.  Actually, Mike, because this might change everything.  Because what they said was best-efforts basis and I am looking for the analysis.  So, the question that I have is:  Is there somebody on the panel who actually produced these measure detail tables?  Is there somebody who is responsible for the production of that table?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  It was a shared initiative between multiple employees.

MR. QUINN:  And when you did that shared initiative did you have to provide a report to senior management as to this is what the accumulation of our efforts produced?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, what do you mean by report to senior management, Dwayne?  This is an interrogatory response.

MR. QUINN:  This is a table they produced -- that I thought one person might have produced.  If multiple people contributed, that's great, but somewhere they would have had to document what they agreed to as their findings and provide it to somebody who is going to authorize the utilization of this table as a responsive -- to respond to this interrogatory.  I am asking if we can have --

MR. STEVENS:  Dwayne, not to get too much into how the sausage is made, but the way that interrogatory -- you will appreciate that huge numbers of interrogatories land on Enbridge at the same time in short deadlines.  They get allocated out to the subject matter experts.  Sometimes, as Geoff has indicated, different parts of the same question go to various people.  The answer gets collected together.  I know this because I am involved in the process also.  The answer gets cumulated together.  All the people who have responsibility for that answer, as well as the regulatory team, will typically review the combined and final answer and confirm that it is good for publication.  There is no report on to management or subsequent approval that happens.  It is happening in real-time and the approval is seen by the fact that the company submits the complete answer.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I am hearing get it on a best-efforts basis, I would like a comprehensive response.  So, if it takes multiple parties to produce their individual calculations to produce these peak reductions and what assumptions went into it that is what I am looking for.  And that should be available because somebody did the calculation it is not that it is not going to be available.  The fact is somebody did the calculation and had to report to somebody.  So, I would like that best-efforts limitation to be removed because what we are looking for is the assumptions and the calculations that determined the peak hour reduction for the table in response to ED 6.  Can you accept?

MR. STEVENS:  Dwayne, by definition we can't do better than best efforts.  Best efforts is well beyond reasonable efforts.  It is beyond we will see what we can do.  It is saying we will make best efforts.  I don't know what more you want.

MR. QUINN:  I have got some of the best efforts response and there is some limitations to it, David, that I don't want applied here.  We are going to ask for it.  If we don't get it then I guess we will have to ask again somewhere else.  So, I am going to leave it at that, Mike, because I respect it is your time and not mine.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  If we can just get the undertaking marked and then if we need to summarize it again we can do that.

MR. STEVENS:  Can I please -- sorry, Jamie, I am just going to repeat the undertaking as I understand it for the record before we get a number.  Enbridge Gas will provide the assumptions associated with the table in the response to ED number 6A to the extent that those assumptions are not already stated in the answer.

MR. QUINN:  The assumptions and calculations David is what I am looking for.

MR. STEVENS:  Enbridge Gas -- I am not there yet, Dwayne.  Enbridge Gas will also provide an additional column indicating the peak reduction by participant for each of --

MR. BROPHY:  It should be by measure because each row is a measure.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry I wasn't done, Mike.

MR. BROPHY:  Sorry.

MR. STEVENS:  Enbridge Gas will provide the peak reduction by participant for each of the rows in the table at ED number 6.  That is the undertaking we are prepared to provide.  I believe the assumptions will lead somebody to understand how the numbers are derived.  I mean to -- to have to provide 40 different calculations I submit it is just more work than it is reasonable or necessary.

MR. BROPHY:  I am fine with that, David.  And then if Mr. Quinn wants to pursue additional questions later he can do so.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So, I am going to give that undertaking number JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE PEAK REDUCTION BY PARTICIPANT FOR EACH OF THE ROWS IN THE TABLE AT ED NUMBER 6

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Maybe we can go to B1.1, page 1, paragraph 2.  And -- okay.  So, that paragraph outlines the criteria the OEB put in their decision related to the IRP pilots.  Is that correct?  The reference is at the bottom in footnote 1.

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  Sorry, Mr. Brophy that was B1.1, paragraph 2?

MR. BROPHY:  It is what is on the screen, correct.  Can the witnesses see the screen?

MS. WONG:  Sorry, could you actually repeat the question?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, yes.  I just wanted to validate you can see what is on the screen.  Right?

MS. WONG:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, I am just confirming that these were the criteria that the OEB had identified in relation to IRP pilots that they ordered Enbridge to undertake.  Is that correct?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  So, the criteria you see on the screen was not the criteria listed us by the Ontario Energy Board.  I think the reference to that footnote there was actually for the paragraph above that says we should do a pilot application.  The criteria listed here is what the company along with consultation with the technical working group put forward when selecting the pilot project alternatives.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Would you be able to provide the list of the criteria that the OEB indicated and then against each indicate which criteria was used by Enbridge in its updated pilot application and if a criteria wasn't used, why not?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  So, as part of the OEB decision, there was no specific criteria as to what the pilot should include.  It essentially stated that the pilots would be an effective way to understand and evaluate how IRP can be implemented to avoid delay or defer facility projects and that it should -- and that we should look to share learnings as -- so the pilots to the OEB.  So, there were no specific criterias listed.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, and actually what you just said was perfect because without taking you to the OEB's decision, which we probably don't have time for, the criteria Enbridge has put forward are different than what you just said.  So, even just picking on one of the ones you just mentioned about being able to indicate how the pilot was able to avoid or defer capital project, Southern Lake Huron is no longer a planned capital project I don't think you are going to be able to defer or avoid that project or show how the pilot does that because it is not a project on the books right now.  Do you understand what I am saying?

MS. MOORE:  Hi this is Alison Moore.  So the OEB's expectation was that the pilots would be an effective approach to understand and evaluate how IRP can be implemented to avoid delay or reduce facility projects.  And the objectives of the pilot project, which are noted on exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3, paragraph 8, are directly responsive to that, around developing and understanding of how enhanced targeted energy efficiency and demand response programs impact peak hour and developing an understanding of how to design, deploy and evaluate enhanced targeted energy efficiency and residential demand response programs.

So I just want to highlight that the purpose of the pilot is to enhance our understanding, to refine our approach and our assumptions with real world data to be applied to the evaluation of IRP more broadly, and to apply those learnings in the evaluation of future IRP alternatives and IRP plans, as opposed to the purpose of the pilot, being to address a specific facility need.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And actually that gets on another question I had:  I think that Enbridge had confirmed it wasn't just going to be residential.  But, do you recall that?  Or is it just purely residential?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  The pilot is not limited to the residential market.  So enhanced targeted energy efficiency includes the commercial-industrial market, as well.  The demand response offering is specific to residential.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, okay.  No, that is helpful.  Okay.

So given the learnings of -- or the intent of the learnings of the pilot, I am assuming that the panel is aware that typically, when Enbridge undertakes an assessment of a project for IRP purposes in advance, they have some analysis done?  So, you know, we saw some of that in the table 1 of ED 6 a little bit, to project what you think the pilot will do.  And then you do the pilot and then you would go back and see if your projections were right or wrong and, if they were not correct, then you would try to figure out why your initial modelling and assumptions didn't equal reality.

Does that sound right?  Or would you not do something like that?

MR. CHUNG:  Just a moment, to confer.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Michael, can I just confirm, you are effectively asking us, we are going to run the pilot and use that to refine our assumptions.  Was that really the root of your question?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  Typically, you do some modelling and work in advance to identify what you think will happen.  You run the pilot and then you validate, to see if it really led to the outcomes that you thought would occur, and it helps you to tighten up assumptions and ability so that, when you go to do other IRP projects, you know, you know your model is good.  Is that accurate?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  The only caveat I will add to that, I think that is a fair overall assessment is, you know, we are not -- we won't necessarily be able to test every assumption as part of a single pilot.  We will be testing the assumptions that we have outlined here.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, as many as possible, as you outline.  So in the past, and I think this is the first time you are actually going to do IRP where you want to validate what you think will happen and then you will use it as learnings to improve your IRP planning and application of IRP.  Right?  There hasn't been any other time that Enbridge has done that?  Or have you?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  This is the first IRP pilot.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And, in previous IRP assessments, you retained firms; I think it was always Posterity, who I thick you have kind of a blanket contract with, to do modelling and assumptions upfront, to do -- estimate what you think the impacts were.

Have you done anything like that for this pilot, in advance of implementing?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  Yes, we did have Posterity model the original pilot application at the time.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Can you provide a copy of that?

MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear, it is David Stevens speaking:  Posterity modelled both the Parry Sound and the Southern Lake Huron pilot projects for Enbridge, in advance of filing?

MS. WONG:  Yes, they did.

MR. STEVENS:  And did they provide some sort of reporting to Enbridge?

MS. WONG:  Yes, they did.

MR. STEVENS:  And is that part of the record in this case?

MS. WONG:  It is not.  It was part of -- they did it in the original scope.  So it is not part of this application here.

MR. STEVENS:  And is it fair to say that whatever they modelled is not precisely what we see now in the Southern Lake Huron project?

MS. WONG:  Yes, that would be accurate.

MR. STEVENS:  And have they done any updated?

MS. WONG:  No, they have not.

MR. STEVENS:  So Michael, would it be important for you to see the original modelling that Posterity did for the Southern Lake Huron project?

MR. BROPHY:  Just the report.  And I understand it is not a 100 percent match, because changes were made with the current Southern Lake Huron.  But there are elements that are common.  And, you know, gleaning the value from that in relation to the current is sufficient for us.

We were thinking about asking if Enbridge would undertake an update to match exactly that but, you know, I can go to that in a minute.  But I don't want to create undue work.

MR. STEVENS:  So Whitney, is that report something that is available that could be produced?

MS. WONG:  Yes, it can be.

MR. STEVENS:  So we can provide that undertaking, Michael, to provide a copy of the Posterity reporting on modelling for the Southern Lake Huron original pilot project proposal.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING JT1.5:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE POSTERITY REPORTING ON MODELLING FOR THE SOUTHERN LAKE HURON ORIGINAL PILOT PROJECT PROPOSAL.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I am just wondering, Michael, if you have thought about when might be a good time to take the break?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  I have just one more quick question, then we can take the break?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  If that is okay.  Okay.  So thank you for that undertaking.

And I am assuming -- well, I think the panel confirmed that Posterity is has not gone back with the updated Southern Lake Huron and redone a report or modelling on the updated application.  Is that correct?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So do you have any plans to do anything like that, so that you can compare the results of the pilot against modelling in advance, just so that you can improve the modelling?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  Can I take a moment to confer with the panel?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  At this time we would not be going back to Posterity to update the analysis.  Again, to reiterate the purpose of the pilot is to test and gain learnings on the assumptions around peak hour impacts as well as uptake.  And we will be looking to incorporate those learnings and working with Posterity to update their model going forward.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And as I mentioned I am trying to avoid asking for you to do a new report, because that is going to be a bit of work.  But maybe you can just undertake to provide how you plan to take the outcomes of the pilot and cycle them back into your modelling and analysis including your work with Posterity to improve that.  Is that something you can provide a summary of what your plans are for that?

MR. STEVENS:  Hi, Michael, it is David Stevens just to recap:  You are asking us to advise how Enbridge Gas plans to use the outcomes from the pilots to update and improve its modelling for future IRP evaluations?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, including the Posterity modelling that was done for Enbridge.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that something that we can think about and advise in general, witnesses?

MS. MOORE:  Well, I would just highlight that our evaluation and monitoring plan to the extent that we have, you know, laid this out and we have worked through to date is outlined in evidence at Exhibit D, Tab 1, Schedule 3.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and thank you for that reference.  I did read that, it just doesn't indicate what David just stated as the undertaking.

MR. STEVENS:  We can certainly take it away as an undertaking, Michael, and if it turns out that it is, broadly speaking, a reference back to other parts of the evidence that is what it will be.  But I think we can answer the question as I indicated and as you supplemented.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that undertaking JT1.6.  I wonder, David, if you could just give a succinct summary of what it is that you will be providing?

MR. STEVENS:  Sure.  Enbridge will advise how it plans to use the outcomes of the IRP Pilot Project to update and improve its modelling for IRP evaluations, including any updates to the Posterity approach for modelling.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks for that.

MR. BROPHY:  Did you mark that exhibit -- or, sorry, the undertaking?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes that is undertaking 1.6.
UNDERTAKING JT1.6:  TO ADVISE HOW ENBRIDGE PLANS TO USE THE OUTCOMES OF THE IRP PILOT PROJECT TO UPDATE AND IMPROVE ITS MODELLING FOR IRP EVALUATIONS, INCLUDING ANY UPDATES TO THE POSTERITY APPROACH FOR MODELLING.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, now is a great time to take the break if you want to.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perfect.  We will take -- let's say we will take just under 15 minutes and reconvene at 11:10.  Thanks, everyone.
--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:11 a.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And we are back to you, Mike.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  Before I forget, I was just going to say I think this is pre-interruptible time running background, and projecting things.  And you are doing a great job.  Thank you -- yes, as always, it is going seamlessly.  Okay.  Great.

The next question I had was -- you don't need to pull it up, but it is in relation to Pollution Probe 9.  Enbridge indicated that there is one customer that is on interruptible rates.  And it is assumed that they are off gas on a peak day.

Given that the Southern Lake Huron pilot project area includes Sarnia, there are some huge customers.  I am just wondering, it looks like a golden opportunity to test out interruptible pilot options.

Why isn't Enbridge doing that, as part of the pilot?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers:  Michael, the original application was meant to defer a facility need.  And so, as some of the evidence highlights, that is how we got to the SLH pilot.  Obviously, there has been a lot of changes, but some of those large contract -- or customers that you are talking about, are on upstream systems, and not the focus on this pilot, with the focus on the general service customers with the broad-based ETTE and DR.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  If I can just add a point of clarity, too:  Our standard design assumption is with interruptible customers off, just to make that clear.  So that when we are looking --


MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  -- at that load demand forecast, that we are off.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and I think that is my point.  And I get that some of the large customers are on different pipelines connected to different parts of the system, outside the original scoping of the Southern Lake Huron project.

But, you know, I am assuming that there are some large customers on the system that you are testing out IRP on.

Would Enbridge consider looking at those customers and considering adding an interruptible pilot offering?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  not for the purposes of this pilot.  The pilot is focused on the area highlighted in the map.  Those other customers that you were referring to are on upstream supply systems.  However, it is standard, and we have shown this in other areas, where we do do reverse open seasons, and do investigate opportunities to revise contracts.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But you have scoped that out for the purposes of this pilot.  Right?

MR. CLARK:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  If we can go to E1.1, page 2?  And there is a table; I think it is table 1.  So hopefully people can see that table.  If you need to make it bigger, then that is fine as well.  It is table 1 really I am going to ask about.

So if you look at table 1, it includes costs for the budget related to the pilot.  There are costs from 2023, that it -- you know, that has already happened.  So I am assuming those are probably actuals.

And then, you know, we are almost in September 2024.  So Enbridge would likely not get an OEB approval either way for the pilot until at least the end of 2024, more likely beginning at 2025.  So then the costs in 2023 and 2024, they will by already spent by then.  Is that correct?  Or are you holding back on those costs?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  So as you had mentioned, the 2023 costs would be reflective of actuals.  And then the 2024 is the anticipated spend on those certain items, as listed in the table.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then have you spent some or all of that 2024 amount, already?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  certain pieces of it.  So I guess included in the other costs would include administrative and legal costs.  So we have spent -- that would include costs associated with putting forward the pilot application and all the letters in advance of the submission of the application; so some costs have been spent there.

In terms of the data collection and analysis, we have also been collecting hourly metering data from the Southern Lake Huron pilot area, so some of those costs have also been incurred.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  And when I sum up the 2023 and 2024 amounts, which will have been spent prior to an OEB decision, it is an amount in the range of $274,000.  So I went back to -- we talked already about Pollution Probe, I think it was 17A, which are costs already incurred on the pilots.  And those summed up to around $77,000.

So the $77,000 we talked about earlier, or the table costs already incurred, are in addition to what is in this table in E1.1, page 2.  Right?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  So the cost listed in PP 17 would reflect all the actual spend.  And those would be captured within this table that you have on the screen here, inclusive of any additional forecasted spend for 2024.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the amount that was in Pollution Probe 17, that -- and you say it was $77,000, plus or minus.  That is all included in this table?

MS. WONG:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  The next question is, will Enbridge have a project advisory or governance committee for the South Lake Huron IRP pilot?


MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  Can you clarify, Michael?  When you refer to a governance committee, are you referring internal to Enbridge, or are you referring to work external?

MR. BROPHY:  I think both.  If you are intending on any governance committees, you know, whatever you call them, advisory, whatever, you know, what are they?  And do they include just internal, or do they include external?  This is the question.

MS. MOORE:  I see.  So internally, we have not worked through all of the details from a resource structure perspective.  So that will be work that we will be undertaking, going forward.

In terms of external engagement, the OEB has an established IRP technical working group.  And we anticipate we will be continuing to update and engage the IRP technical working group over the course of the pilot.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And I am aware of engagement that has occurred or you plan to do, but I am not talking about engagement.  I am talking about if the pilot project is approved, a specific governance or advisory committee other than engagement, like a formal committee.  And it sounds like Enbridge hadn't thought about creating that or even who would sit on that, from Enbridge.  Is that correct?

And it also sounds like you wouldn't have external parties on the pilot project governance or advisory committee.  Is that correct?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  No, Enbridge had not contemplated a separate committee associated with the project as you describe.  I would note that there is, you know, the existing IRP technical working group that -- whose membership has technical expertise.  And we intend to continue to engage with the technical working group moving forward.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the OEB technical working group members would be engaged, but not part of the governance or advisory committee.  Is that correct?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  So, the purpose of the technical working group is to provide input that will be of value to Enbridge Gas and the OEB and I expect them to -- well, they will continue to serve in that capacity as it relates to the Southern Lake Huron pilot.

MR. BROPHY:  So, internally for Enbridge, like, I am sure this project is one of the first of its kind would be important for Enbridge.  Do you have an existing governance set up or I think maybe you suggested you haven't really thought about it.  What governance would you be using, from a management perspective, to oversee this project?

MS. MOORE:  I will just take a moment to confer with the panel.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MS. MOORE:  Hello, Alison Moore.  We just had a brief discussion here because the go-forward structure has not been established, and so we just confirmed that.  So, we will just be considering this moving forward as we work through the resourcing and also structural elements moving in post-decision for implementation of the pilot.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  We can go to D1.2, page 25.  And on this page it discusses Enbridge's plans to include hybrid heating with gas furnaces in the pilot.  At the bottom of that page is a footnote.  It says if I can read it correctly here:
"The clean home heating initiative has achieved 1495 installations by end of the program in February 2024."

And that is for hybrid heating installations.  Correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  That is correct in the context of, sort of, traditional hybrid heating systems.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, okay.  Well, and that is kind of one of the questions is, you know, when we talk hybrid there is different configurations and things.  So, the configuration done under that initiative is different than the one you are proposing under the IRP pilot.  Is that correct?

MS. LENNY:  Alicia Lenny.  Just to clarify, Michael, you said your question is around whether the hybrid heating, kind of, conventional systems are the same as what is being proposed.  Was that your question?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, under the IRP pilot hybrid heating, which is proposed were the clean home heating initiative installations the same or were they more like the Enbridge sustain model where you kick over to gas fired at a certain point and turn off the air source heat pump?

MS. LENNY:  Alicia Lenny.  If you refer to PP 25, if you could bring that up.  And part A and B kind of both go to the response to your question, Michael.  But just to further elaborate on this, the conventional hybrid heating method that is kind of typically discussed or thought of involves a furnace and an air source heat pump along with a smart controller where the smart controller sets a series of programmed priorities depending on homeowner comfort, or GHG emissions, or cost reductions to choose which method whether it is the heat pump or the furnace that would provide the heating.  In the context of IRP the simultaneous heating system uses similar equipment where it has a heat pump, a furnace and a controller.

The difference here is that the heat pump is, as described in part B, the heat pump is what is providing the -- it is the primary system that is providing the heating and when that heat pump can no longer meet the needs of the home, meet the call for heating in the home the furnace would then kick in and supplement.  So, the difference here is that the heat pump and the furnace work at the same time to provide the full heating load when necessary.

MR. BROPHY:  And is Enbridge proposing to use cold climate air source heat pumps?

MS. LENNY:  Within the simultaneous hybrid heating piece?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MS. LENNY:  So, the assumptions that we have made here are that the best available heat pump would be used in conjunction with the furnace.

MR. BROPHY:  So, the best available heat pump is a cold climate air source heat pump.  Right?

MS. LENNY:  Alicia Lenny.  Yes, I suspect so.  I think part of the point of the pilot is that we would need to fully establish the learnings and understandings for hybrid heating but, yes, that would be the assumption.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, if you using a cold climate air source heat pump it can handle beyond peak days for heating, so you would never actually use gas furnace.  Isn't that right?

MS. LENNY:  Alicia Lenny.  The ability for the cold climate heat pump can depend on a variety of different factors and the intention through IRP is to fully establish whether or how the heat pump can achieve the peak reductions.

MR. BROPHY:  So, does Enbridge believe that a cold climate air source heat pump can't meet minus 25?  Is that what you are saying?

MS. LENNY:  I will take a moment to confer.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mike, while they are conferring I have a follow-up question when you have a moment.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MS. LENNY:  Alicia Lenny.  So, just again going back to the point of the pilot being that we are looking to determine how a cold climate air source heat pump, or heat pump in general, could reduce peak and whether it can do that is purely a function of the capacity of the heat pump and how it is supposed to be installed.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, Enbridge would size heat pumps to meet the heating load.  Right?  Like, that is a normal approach.  So, is that what Enbridge is planning to do?  Because if you undersize the heat pump then of course it won't meet the load but, like, this technology has been around for a long time and there is people that are just using them with no backup today.  I don't understand why you would even need the gas furnace in hybrid heating mode if the cold climate air source heat pump is sized correctly and can meet the full load.

MS. LENNY:  The expectation that we currently have and what has been built into the assumptions here is that the heat pump would be the primary source of heating, and if and when the that heat pump isn't able to meet the load due to a variety of different circumstances that might be, for example related to customer's call for heat, their, you know, daily habits, et cetera, that their furnace would be there to provide supplementary heat.

MR. BROPHY:  And Enbridge, maybe you can confirm it now or you take it away and confirm it, that Enbridge would be sizing the cold climate air source heat pump to meet the full heating load in the -- for the participants, where you are doing the hybrid heating installations?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  I was going to interrupt, but I think you answered my question, Michael, which is you are asking that it would be sized for the full heating load in the case of the hybrid heating per application.

MR. BROPHY:  Right.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Give us one moment.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. STEVENS:  Hi, Michael, it is David Stevens:  I am mindful that you are, I am sure, on a schedule, and trying to get through things.  And I see that the witnesses are conferring for a while, so perhaps it is easiest for us to answer this by way undertaking.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  That is fine, for me.  Yes, thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  And, to be clear, the undertaking is will Enbridge Gas size the cold climate heat pumps, the air source heat pumps, for the full heating load in the context of the hybrid heating application that is part of this pilot project proposal?

MR. BROPHY:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that undertaking JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING JT1.7:  TO (I) SIZE THE COLD CLIMATE AIR SOURCE HEAT PUMPS FOR THE FULL HEATING LOAD IN THE CONTEXT OF THE HYBRID HEATING APPLICATION THAT IS PART OF THIS PILOT PROJECT PROPOSAL; (II) TO PROVIDE THE TYPICAL SPECS OF THE AIR SOURCE HEAT PUMP THAT YOU WOULD USE FOR THESE HYBRID HEATING SYSTEMS.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And, Jay, I think you had a question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have, actually, a pair of questions.  The first question is can you provide the typical specs of the air source heat pump that you would use for these hybrid heating systems?  And I am particularly interested in the efficiency level of the ASHP.

MR. STEVENS:  Jay, it is David Stevens speaking.  Can we add that to undertaking JT1.7 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS: ...to also advise as to the efficiency rating?  Do I have that phrase --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- of the planned cold climate heat source -- cold climate, air source heat pump.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And then, related to that, you have a unit, Enbridge Sustain, that has a proprietary controller that switches between gas and electric.

Can you advise whether it is that controller that you expect to use in your hybrid heating offering in this area?

MR. STEVENS:  So again, just to play that back to you, Jay:  You are asking Enbridge to advise whether it plans to use the same switching mechanism or equipment for this hybrid heating proposal as is being used or proposed by Enbridge Sustain?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  We can answer that.  I think it would be a different undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. JOHNSON:  It is Daniel Johnson.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  We will make that JT1.8, then.
UNDERTAKING JT1.8:  TO ADVISE WHETHER IT PLANS TO USE THE SAME SWITCHING MECHANISM OR EQUIPMENT FOR THIS HYBRID HEATING PROPOSAL AS IS BEING USED OR PROPOSED BY ENBRIDGE SUSTAIN; WHETHER THE CONTROLLER TO BE USED IN THIS SITUATION IS DIFFERENT AND, IF SO, HOW.


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, Daniel Johnson:  If I could just jump in?  If I understood the question, the Sustain one switches between either heating or -- sorry, either heating from the furnace or heating from the heat pump.  So, by definition, it would not be the same as the simultaneous one.

The whole premise of what is being tested with this is that both the heat pump and the furnace can run at the same time.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I think the way it operates would be different, but I think --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry.

MR. BROPHY:  -- taking what would provide that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, sorry.  Maybe you could advise what kind of controller you are going to use because, as I understand it, you have a proprietary, what is actually a smart thermostat that switches based on incremental costs of gas and electricity.

And I am wondering whether the controller you are going to use in this situation is different and, if so, how?  Could the undertaking answer that?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can do that, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Sorry, there.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So that will be JT1.8.  That will be a separate undertaking.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  So we started this on reference to that footnote on the clean home heating initiative, which installed just under 1,500 hybrid heating systems.  Is Enbridge able to provide documentation for that program?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Yes, we have. I believe there is reporting that is publicly available.

MR. BROPHY:  Whatever Enbridge has is fine.

MR. STEVENS:  Michael, it is David Stevens speaking:  So you are speaking about the home heating hybrid program which was completed in February 2024?

MR. BROPHY:  The clean home heating initiative was the footnote in D1.2, page 25 that we were on, a minute ago.

MR. STEVENS:  Right.  And sorry, can you help me?  How does that fit into the pilot project?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, it was noted as a reference in support of the use of hybrid heating.  So I am not familiar with it.  I see that you have referenced it in support, but I don't have any information on it.

MR. STEVENS:  And Daniel, there is easily information -- easily available information about that?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can provide that undertaking, Michael, to provide details of the -- I am sorry, I don't have it in front of me now, the clean home...can you?

MR. BROPHY:  Clean initiative.

MR. STEVENS:  Clean home heating initiative?

MR. BROPHY:  Correct.

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can provide details.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  We will make that JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS OF CLEAN HOME HEATING INITIATIVE.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now might be a good time for me to jump in and give a bit of a heads-up.  I believe Enbridge had requested lunch from 12:00 to 1:00.  And that is that way on the schedule.  Just for your planning purposes, Mike, I know that we also have got 10 minutes slotted in for FRPO, before lunch.  But let's keep an eye on that and see if we can break right at noon.  David, I assume that Enbridge still needs lunch from 12:00 to 1:00.  Right?

MR. STEVENS:  We are a little bit flexible about it, Jamie -- somewhere in that lunch hour.  And just to be transparent, we are in an area where we think there is going to be a bunch of noise around us during the lunch hour.  But if we bleed a little bit past noon, because that makes more sense for the breaks, that is just fine, too.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  Well, let's see how we go.  Back to you, Mike.

MR. BROPHY:  Right.  Thank you.  I am going to strive not to go past noon, with everyone willing.

So the panel had mentioned earlier about the monitoring and verification plan, and I think we had, you know, looked at that.  I won't bring you there again.

Has Enbridge looked at IESO's existing verification protocols that are used for these kind of pilots?  Have you looked at them and considered whether you could just leverage those?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  In development of these pilots, we did not consider those protocols.

MR. BROPHY:  So, why not?

MR. CHUNG:  Just a moment to confer.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Yes, so good question.  I think we have not fully established our evaluation methodology yet at this point, so something that we can consider.  I would say there is obviously differences between -- very big differences between the system but there might be something in there that we could consider.

MR. BROPHY:  The verification protocols are -- feel agnostic.  They just validate project outcomes.  So, yes, I encourage you to do that.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry.  Michael, can I interrupt you?  Maybe I misunderstood the question.  If you are just talking about the generic evaluation and measurement protocols generally, like, and I guess I assumed when you asked the question there was something different between the DSM and -- sorry, DSM or Energy Conservation and Integrated Resource Planning planning protocols, but you are just talking about their protocols in general?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, they are protocols and they have done a lot of pilots like this and they have applied, you know, there is commonality with the DSM, kind of, protocols it is just common sense to use best practice.  But, yes, those are the ones I am referring to.  Not a specific protocol they used for a specific project because that would be, you know, project specific but they have generic protocols which would be applicable.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Yes, I am certainly not intimately but at least somewhat familiar.  I will revise my answer then, at least somewhat familiar then with IESO's EM&V protocols in general, and certainly we have our own.  And, you know, I would like to think there is a fair bit of overlap but it's something we would consider, but it's a good point.  We can certainly look at anything specific to -- they have obviously got a lot more experience than us on Integrated Resource Planning.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and I thought that if you could just leverage their protocols then it would save you time and money developing new protocols at Enbridge for the pilot.  Does that make sense?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then on the same kind of line, has Enbridge done any statistical analysis on its pilot project design to look at how the project outcomes would be statistically representative of Enbridge customers in general so that you could apply it to other areas for IRP?

MS. WONG:  Sorry can I have a moment to confer?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  Sorry, Michael, as we were conferring we all had slightly different interpretations of what you were asking there.  Can you clarify -- repeat and maybe we will try and get clarity in your question?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Yes, no problem.  So, has Enbridge done any statistical analysis on the IRP pilot design so that you'd understand the statistical representation of how the results could be applied to Enbridge customers in general?  I can ask it differently if that wording is problematic.

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  So, we did do some high level statistical analysis in terms of, like you mentioned, the sample size of the participation.  I think ultimately as these are pilots and we are using these to try to get as many learnings as we can we have a fairly sizable pilot population and we are hoping that as we go through the pilot process and we evaluate or we see what kind of participation uptake we have then we will use that data to then further slice and segment where possible.  But it is highly dependant on the type of uptake and participation that we get that we can then determine what sort of results we can draw and conclusions from the pilot.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, just based on your design, and I understand you can't control who signs up in reality, but you have done some statistical modelling.  Would you be able to provide that information and just explain how you design the pilot so that the results would be applicable in a statistical manner to broader application?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  We can provide the preliminary statistical analysis that was completed.  I would say, again, as this is a pilot we are looking to verify or gather data that would inform the assumptions that went into the model.  So, yes, the pilot is intended to help provide additional information on that front.  So, we are looking to maximize uptake as much as possible as opposed to trying to -- in order to get as large of a sample size as we can get as opposed to trying to meet some sort of statistical number.  As that is what we trying to prove out with the pilot.

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens speaking.  Whitney, when you said you provide the preliminary statistical analysis can you just expand a bit on that just so that we are clear for the record what we are providing?

MS. WONG:  Sure.  So, that would include just looking at the participants projected to be captured as part of the pilot relative to the margin of error relative to the total population size of the pilot area.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  And, Whitney, can I just confirm:  Is that based on the original pilot or the current pilot?

MS. WONG:  That is a good clarification point.  It was done based on the original pilot area.

MR. STEVENS:  So, would that information be useful for you Michael?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and maybe you can just note when you provide the information that it was on the original design.

MR. STEVENS:  So, we can provide that undertaking to provide the preliminary statistical analysis related to review of participants for the original pilot project.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So, let's make that JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING JT1.10:  TO PROVIDE THE PRELIMINARY STATISTICAL ANALYSIS RELATED TO REVIEW OF PARTICIPANTS FOR THE ORIGINAL PILOT PROJECT.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that.  So, Enbridge had indicated that one of the reasons that drove you to change your pilot approach, I think, including dropping Parry Sound and redesigning Southern Lake Huron was the change in funding.  I think one of those was you were assuming or hoping you would be able to leverage some of your NRCan funding before that agreement changed.  Has Enbridge undertaken outreach to other partners to look for funding that would -- not that it necessarily replaced what you had, but have you undertaken any of that and if you have -- have you been successful in being able to get some supplementary funding for the IRP pilot?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  At this point we have not looked at alternative sources of funding similar to NRCan but we are open to leveraging other sources of funding as they become available.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But I take it from your answer you haven't done any outreach for that.  But if some was identified then you would be open to leveraging it.  Right?

MR. CHUNG:  Yes, we would be open to considering leveraging that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then, you know, funding can be money.  It can be in kind.  It can be, you know, equipment that you are planning to put in the pilot, whatever, you know, is going to reduce the gas ratepayer costs for the pilot and actually increase the partnership with others.  So, would Enbridge be willing to agree to undertake outreach.

And I will just mention IESO right now.  But, you know, to the extent that you identify others that is fine.  IESO seems to be a no-brainer, if they can provide in-kind funding or funding in general, or even incentives or other things that are going to reduce the cost of the pilot.

Would Enbridge be willing to agree to that?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Give us one moment.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  So if I understand your question, Michael, yes, our intention was already to work with IESO and the local municipality.  And certainly, as part of that, we would be looking for any way in which we could leverage them for the pilot.  Did I answer your question?

MR. BROPHY:  A little bit.  I did notice, and I was going to take you to this reference earlier but, you know, we don't need to go specifically there unless you need.  There was wording that says "you may", and I am just asking you to commit to that "you will."  Are you willing to make that commitment?

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry --


MR. BROPHY:  Changing it from "you may" do --


MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, Michael, can you take us to that reference before I commit to anything?

MR. BROPHY:  Outreach and coordination including -- yes, I will.  It is just going to take me a minute, because I had skipped a bunch of questions.

Yes, so it is D1.3, page 9.  And then -- so I think it is towards the bottom.  All right.  So it says:
"The pilot project engaged internal staff and other key partners, e.g., IESO, municipalities may be conducted."

Do you see that wording?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  And just for clarity -- if you scroll up, thank you -- this is in the context of the monitoring and evaluation plan, specifically.

MR. BROPHY:  Correct.  Yes, this was one reference; there was "mays", and this was this just the one I noted around "mays", when I thought it should be a "will" instead of a "may."  And it sounded like you agreed that you will, but rather than you may.

MR. JOHNSON:  Well, just for clarity, your question earlier was in the context of reaching out to partners for funding.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  So let's actually deal with it this way:  So for funding and then also on the monitoring:  coordinate with IESO rather than you may, for both of those?

MR. JOHNSON:  Give us a moment, please.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. JOHNSON:  Thank you.  So just to split those into two, I appreciate you splitting those up into two different pieces for us.

In terms of working with IESO and municipalities and looking for, you know, ways that we can draw new fundings, that we will commit to doing that.

In terms of the monitoring and evaluation plan, we will leave the wording as is, which is we "may."  It really depends on the results.  You know, if we get results that we think line up perfectly, we don't necessarily see a value to that, then not something necessarily that we will do.  But if we see value in it, we will absolutely do that.

MR. BROPHY:  But you would be developing your monitoring and evaluation plan before you get your results.  Correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  So you would need to partner with them before you know the results?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  Again, we haven't built our evaluation plan, so until we have done that, I am just hesitant to commit to something there.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Well, maybe you can just commit to -- that you will investigate that opportunity with IESO; I think that is probably the best you can say, right now.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  I am okay with that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  And in the interest of time, I am just going to ask one more question and drop the rest.

So I think you are aware that IESO has an existing cold climate air source heat pump program, and another one is coming before you launch this pilot.  The current one is a free cold climate air source heat pump.  So why wouldn't you leverage that in your pilot, and then you are actually getting it for free?  You don't have to use gas ratepayer money to pay for it.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Sorry, you are going to have to repeat that, Michael.  Are you saying IESO has a free cold climate air source heat pump off of --


MR. BROPHY:  Correct, correct.

MR. JOHNSON:  My understanding, and I have to admit I don't know the details, but the little bits I have heard is that is purely for electrically heated homes.  Do you have other information?

MR. BROPHY:  I think the heating has to be electric.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  So if it is purely for electric heated homes which, again, I don't actually know that; that is just my limited understanding.  Then obviously that wouldn't -- that wouldn't work here.  We are trying to apply this to gas heated homes, to avoid gas peak.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, okay.  Well, in the interest of time, I will end there and give back my one minute.  Thank you, very much, panel.  I appreciate all your answers.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Michael, thank you.  It is now just coming up on 12 o'clock.  We would be starting with FRPO now.  Could I just ask if anything has changed in the one-hour time estimate for FRPO, since this morning?  Dwayne?

MR. QUINN:  No, Jamie, not at this time.  I am hopeful to get some initial undertakings which may limit the time, but I can't say that because I can't say how Enbridge may respond.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  No, that is fine.  But I will tell you what:  How about, seeing as we are at noon and Enbridge has some noise constraints, why don't we break for lunch now?  We will come back at one o'clock, and Dwayne, you can get started then?

MR. QUINN:  Great.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thanks, everybody.  Thanks, panel.  We will see you at one o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:01 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Welcome back.  We are going to be starting with FRPO but I understand, David, that you have a preliminary matter?
Preliminary Matters


MR. STEVENS:  I do.  Thanks very much, Jamie.  Enbridge does not have any witnesses on this panel who are able to speak to cost allocation questions.  We did reach out to had folks who indicated delay had questions in that area and invited them to provide written questions.  APPrO took us up on that, and sent us three written questions this morning.  We propose to answer APPrO's written questions in writing and I think we believe it would we most efficient just to assign an undertaking to that and we will reproduce their three questions.  Perhaps we can make them three undertakings, in fact, if that works for you, Colm, and then we would provide written answers at the same time as the balance of our undertakings.

MR. BOYLE:  Yes, that is what I had in mind, too.  So sounds good.

MS. GIRVAN:  David, it is Ms. Girvan here.  I just wanted to say you reached out to me and I said I would get back to you but I didn't.  I have really one question could we do it by way of undertaking or do you want me to just wait until I ask my questions?

MR. STEVENS:  I mean, I assume Dwayne's time won't start until Dwayne starts, so hopefully he will be okay us with gutting these things done with.  So, perhaps once we mark APPrO's questions we can move on to yours, Julie.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Let's assign undertakings numbers JT1.11, 1.12, and 1.13 to the three APPrO questions.

UNDERTAKING JT1.11:  TO RESPOND TO THE FIRST QUESTION IN KT1.1.

UNDERTAKING JT1.12:  TO RESPOND TO THE SECOND QUESTION IN KT1.1.

UNDERTAKING JT1.13:  TO RESPOND TO THE THIRD QUESTION IN KT1.1.


MR. QUINN:  Are those available anywhere?  Like, were people copied on this?  I didn't see anything.

MR. BOYLE:  No.  I sent them over to David asking him how he would like to proceed with this.  But I am happy to share them with the group.

MR. QUINN:  If you would, Colm, I would appreciate that.  Because you might have covered the areas of our concern.  But I don't have time to look at them now.  But I will look at them later on when others are doing their enquiry.

MR. BOYLE:  Sure, I can send the PDF around.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Colm, would you mind if I just assign that an exhibit number as well?  And we will just make that exhibit the APPrO questions?

MR. BOYLE:  Sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, APPrO technical conference questions, and we will call those exhibit KT1.1.
EXHIBIT KT1.1:  APPrO TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS.


MR. BOYLE:  Sound good.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think that will just make it easier to keep track of those.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And, Colm, you will send those around so that they can then be entered into record?

MR. BOYLE:  Yes, I will circulate them shortly here.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Colm.

MR. BOYLE:  Thanks, David.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And so, David, did you want to move on to Julie's question now?  We will just take care of that.

MR. STEVENS:  If that is okay with Dwayne.

MR. QUINN:  Absolutely.  Go ahead, Julie.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  My question is I just want, and I am not sure if I missed it on the record, maybe it is on the record -- but of the total cost of the pilot which, I think, is estimated to be 14.2 million how will these be allocated to the rate classes?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Julie.  I do think there is some information on the record, but it is probably cleanest if we just take that away as an undertaking.  We can point you to the evidence or give you any extra information that we need to.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will number that JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING JT1.14:  TO PROVIDE THE TOTAL COST OF THE PILOT PROJECT, AND THE ALLOCATION BETWEEN DIFFERENT RATE CLASSES.


And just so I am clear, Julie, does that take care of your questions or was that one specific question on cost allocation and you will get to your other questions later?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I will get to my other questions later.  I won't be a full half an hour but I have a few more questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  And in the absence of any other preliminary matters, why don't we move on to Dwayne for FRPO?
Examination by Mr. Quinn


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Enbridge panel.  It is Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.  We had an exchange of e-mails and again, Jamie, I am in your hands as to whether you want to put an exhibit number on this, but I was hoping we could pull everything together on one potential undertaking, David.  But you provided the requests that we had for a map and I was going to ask some questions about the pressures associated with it.  So, this might be best to take it all by undertaking, but did you want to provide an exhibit number to what we exchanged by e-mail?

MR. STEVENS:  I think that would be -- that would be the most clean way to proceed, Dwayne.  Just for the record, FRPO requested and Enbridge provided a map of the Southern Lake Huron area with information about the pipelines and the stations and the low point.  Enbridge provided, along with that, information about the forecast pressure at the low point for the next number of years, both with and without the pilot project measures.  We did not file that with the OEB because we didn't know whether it was entirely responsive to FRPO, but hearing that it is something that Dwayne would like to ask about I think it makes sense to mark this as an exhibit, and I believe Preet as it in or lords so we can pull it up on the screen to refer to as we are proceeding.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  We will give that exhibit number KT1.2.  That is the -- so, how exactly would I describe that, David?
EXHIBIT KT1.2:  MAP OF THE SOUTHERN LAKE HURON PILOT PROJECT AREA, ALONG WITH SYSTEM PRESSURE INFORMATION AT THE LOW POINT

MR. STEVENS:  I suggest describing it as a map of the Southern Lake Huron pilot project area, along with system pressure information at the low point.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perfect.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thanks, Jamie.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Dwayne, over to you.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.  I think I want to start and make sure we have got the fundamentals on the system.  As to the initial question, would be what are the design maximum and minimum pressures in this system that is shown in the map in KT1.2?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers.  Hey, Dwayne.  So, the map here is showing diameter view of the SLH pilot system, the pilot area shown in the hatched area.  But to clarify your question is what is the MOP and what is the minimum pressure of the system.  Is that your question?

MR. QUINN:  That is the question including, and if it is a distinction, the area with the low point.  But if it is all the same pressure, that is great.  I must just want it confirmed.

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes.  No, that makes sense.  So, most of the system on the screen here is a 420 kPa MOP system.  The minimum system pressure as noted on the second page that we designed, such systems, too, are a majority of these systems, too, is 140 kPa.  You can see that on the second page.  There is some low pressure systems or -- there are low pressure systems within this system fed by the IP or the 420 system and generally those are 2.5 kPa MOP systems with a minimum system pressure of 1.5 kPa but those are down by the lake do the northwest end of the system.

MR. QUINN:  And to make sure we are both clear, Kurtis, those low points, the low pressure system of 2.5 kPa, those systems are not driving this project?

MR. LUBBERS:  So, there is no facility forecasted any more as I mentioned earlier.  The 420 kPa MOP system low point, or constraint at this point, is in that Camlachie area shown on the diagram.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  All right.  I think that is clear enough.  I don't think anything is going to turn on more of a distinction.  So, I appreciate Enbridge providing the map but the challenge I had is we have now three different sources of information about this.  As you know, Kurtis, I was trying to focus on Parry Sound and establishing baseline pressures to have an understanding of the system, but we want to do this for the Sarnia Southern Lake Huron area.  So the map that is on the screen provides station names for the four stations, I will say generically, to the southwest of the low point, and one station to the northeast of the low point.  And they are separate station names.

But if we can turn -- and again, I don't think the witnesses will need to see this, but if it would be helpful, if you turn to FRPO 15 and the attachment for FRPO 15?  We have the map again.  Thank you.  And it has no station names, but it has design flows.

So I guess my first request would be can we just simply get by way of undertaking once we are finished a table that shows the station name and the flow, and very specifically the pressure that was utilized for the purposes of modelling this area under design flow conditions?

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes, Dwayne, this is showing the design flows.  So I guess I didn't want to put those numbers back on there, because they were on this diagram already.

So you are asking to provide these.  So similar to the numbers on this screen in a table similar to what was provided on page 2, for how many years for the first -- for the entire table there, similar?

MR. QUINN:  To be clear, Kurtis, I would start -- well, if we can get 2024, great.  But I think -- and for the purposes of your modelling, you are not changing the station set pressures, are you?

MR. LUBBERS:  That is correct.  We are assuming.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. LUBBERS:  And that is put on the PDF, on the second page, is we are assuming the model though, the pressure of all six stations on this system, are at 380 kPa.  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So it is 380 kPa, but you said the MOP was 420.  So I am going to focus on the data, and then I am going to get the specific question.  So the station name, the station number and the set pressure and flow in 2024 design condition, can that all be put in a table?

MR. LUBBERS:  I believe we can do that.  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And then I did say station number, which I hadn't been specific about.  But you will understand in a moment why I am asking.

MR. LUBBERS:  Sorry, the station code?  Like the six‑digit code?  Is that what you are referencing?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, yes.

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. LUBBERS:  And to clarify, it was just for 2024 is what you are asking?

MR. QUINN:  Just for 2024.  As we go through the questions, we may find the need to enhance it, but it would be under a different simulation condition.  And I want to make sure we have the baseline established first, and then we can look at other considerations.

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes.  It sounds good.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry to interrupt.  That will be undertaking No. JT1.15.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry, Jamie.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It's okay.
UNDERTAKING JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE IN TABLE FORM THE STATION NAME, THE STATION NUMBER AND THE SET PRESSURE AND FLOW IN 2024 DESIGN CONDITION

MR. QUINN:  We got the initial starting point, which will be very helpful and hopefully to all of us in this process.

But I guess my question is now the low pressure location -- and so if, in the KT1.2, if you can turn to the second page of that response?

MR. STEVENS:  To be clear, Dwayne, you are referring back to the document we shared with you yesterday?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, yes.  It has the pressure at the low point.  That's it.  If you could expand that, so everyone can see?  Okay.

So, in 2024, I am seeing the low point as 224 kPa, which -- and we will just stay in kPa, so we don't confuse folks.  But that is 70 or so -- I am sorry, 84 kPa above the minimum requirement for the system as defined on a 420 to 140 kPa system.  Do I have that right?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I understand for the pilot purposes and in respect of my work with you folks on the IRP, this area was chosen in great part because of the ERTs that were in place from historical -- for historical reasons.  But what I am seeing then, and as I read down the table, the lowest pressure that is anticipated even without targeted energy efficiency or demand reduction is 195 kPa in 2028.

Am I wrong, but is that not acceptable from a design point of view from Enbridge's standards that would suggest that it does not need immediate action to overcome a supply constraint?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  You are correct in that.  So the updated system analysis with the updated forecast numbers and energy transition factors that were done earlier this year resulted in the elimination or deferral of the growth reinforcement needs for this system.  And that is why you are not seeing a need currently.

But it was still selected as the appropriate area for a pilot due to the high coverage of ERTs in that area, and the desire to understand how these factors might affect peak hour demand on the system.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And that is helpful, because it brings me to my next question which I trust will be easiest by undertaking, Mr. Clark, that -- if, in that table, if you can see it, over the years there is a marginal increase in the low point pressure over time.

Would it be possible for you to expand that table and put in the level or the amount of metres cubed for hour reductions in peak demand that Enbridge is expecting to be able to -- well, I shouldn't say it is "expecting" -- was used for the simulation, to come up with the second column, which says ETEE and DR?  Would you be able to provide the metres cubed that were reduced in the system, to come up with those results?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  Just let me confer one quick moment, here.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  So perhaps we can/I can rephrase that, or offer up something else.  We can provide the flow at these model conditions for these years, if that will be beneficial to you.

MR. QUINN:  I think the flows, if I am not reading this incorrectly, are on the FRPO 15 attachment.  Are those not the same flows that would be -- would have resulted in the 2024 flows?

MR. CLARK:  For 2024.  But do you want them for the rest of the years?

MR. QUINN:  I see what you are saying; so you would then do it for each year.  I think that would be sufficient, that -- well, let me ask a clarifying question, then:  The starting point can't be the resulting flows.  The starting point has to be the reduction in demand.

Why would the reduction in demand not be available for the purposes of just reporting on what was assumed or forecasted in running these model results?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  It is just a matter of how the data is collected and assembled, and what granular level it is at.  So when we create the models and we apply these conditions to it, it is done through a variety of factors in the model.  So, that is why we can simulate those years and provide you the flow through them.  It is a little bit more difficult to go back and figure out what the reduction is but through what the predicted flow is in comparison to year 2024 that will give you what I think you are looking for.

MR. QUINN:  I am almost prepared to accept that, Brad, but I just -- I really have to clarify this.  There is two things going on.  You would have the reductions that are associated with the investments you are making in terms of energy efficiency and demand reduction which would tend to reduce the flows of the system.  At the same time, you are now putting a moratorium on growth.  And so, there has got to be some assumptions in your model that are indicative of the growth you are going to have.  So, net-net if you are running your model with those growth assumptions and your DSM assumptions that are going to result in two -- an increase and a decrease at the same time with a net result resulting in your pressures.  If you are going to provide what you have asked for -- I guess, is there any way that you can differentiate the DSM reductions from the assumed growth in the system?

MR. LUBBERS:  Hey, Dwayne, it is Kurtis.  In table 14 in Exhibit D, Tab 1, Schedule 2, it does show the estimated peak hour savings, they're the reductions that we are applying to this system.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. LUBBERS:  So, that is one factor like you are saying.  The other factor which is kind of causing those pressures to go down in those middle years is the fact we are still adding customers.  And then there is also another input which is the energy transition factors as well, right?  So, there are so many varying inputs which is why it can be difficult.  So, perhaps like you and Brad were saying in talking about is if we give you those station flows, all six station flows, for the 10 years hopefully that will show some of the totals and how the flow on the system is changing over the course of those years, if that makes sense to you?

MR. QUINN:  It can make sense.  You have given the reference.  I can't look it up right now, but I am trusting it is there.  The amount of reductions that are being invested in, that is the key number.  Your growth assumptions mitigated or reduce somewhat by energy transition assumptions can be netted out notionally when you get the flows.  So, I think the more important one is the targeted savings and that is -- you are saying in the reference, so I will trust then the six station flows will be sufficient, so I will be glad to accept that undertaking, Brad, if you could provide it.

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, it is David Stevens speaking.  I will admit I was trying to follow.  I heard a couple different offers and I am not sure what offer was accepted.  So, maybe we can make sure we are all on the same page as to what Enbridge is providing.  Maybe, Kurtis, you could sum up what you understand we'll be providing?

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes.  If you go back to the attachment that we were talking about, the one from last night, the second page.  So, what we will do is we will add the six stations feeding this system with the station codes and station names and we will provide the flows or the design flows out of those stations similar to this table over those 10 or 11 years, 10 years and hopefully that provides some more context for you Dwayne if that makes sense.

MR. QUINN:  That does.  And, again, I was trying to help Enbridge understand.  What I am trying to do is set a baseline, and I know you folks, Kurtis and Brad, for sure will understand you start with a baseline and then say, okay, what are we going to change and what is the impact?  That is what I am trying to do for 2024.  So, David, that is clear with my understanding also what they are providing, so thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So, we will make that JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING JT1.16:  IN EXHIBIT D, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2, TABLE 14, TO ADD THE SIX STATIONS FEEDING THIS SYSTEM WITH THE STATION CODES AND STATION NAMES; TO PROVIDE THE FLOWS OR THE DESIGN FLOWS OUT OF THOSE STATIONS SIMILAR TO THIS TABLE OVER THOSE 10 OR 11 YEARS.


MR. QUINN:  Thanks, Jamie.  Okay.  This a generic question first before we leave these maps but, again, I understand that there are some things have changed and this is not an emergent system but would the first line of response -- wouldn't it be to actually increase the pressure out of the stations given that there is 380 kPa as the set point for your design purposes, can you not increase that to say 400 kPa if you had a supply constraint and needed more pressure?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  No, unfortunately that is not possible.  The reason for the difference between the set pressure and the MOP is the MOP is the maximum pressure that can be within that pipeline, but per code requirements we have to ensure that due to regulator drift that we don't exceed the 420.  So, that is an intentional set down to ensure the safety and reliability of that system and that is why they are set at 380.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then I am going to need to ask a couple questions then, Brad.  First off, you are allowed and you do fix your relief valves at 10 percent above MOP.  Correct?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, I believe that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, and MOP being 420 your relief valve may be set at 462, just for simple math, your regulator drift that you are speaking of is, frankly, a characteristic of the regulator.  Are there not regulators that you can put in place at a fraction of the cost, you know, if you are building a pipeline, I know you are not building a pipeline here, but can you not put in a more precise regulator paying a little bit more money for that regulator that has sufficient control of the pressure that you could set it to 400 kPa?

MR. CLARK:  It is true that there are a variety of regulator options and station design considerations that could be considered.  But it is the standard to set these 420 at 380 to ensure that we don't go above that MOP.

MR. QUINN:  And that's a pressure system?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  As you know -- I shouldn't say you know; you may know we have had express -- we had expressed some concern about Parry Sound system and the opportunity to improve the station as opposed to building more pipe.  For the purposes of IRP and looking at other projects going forward, are you going to maintain that you cannot increase the pressure in stations above 380 for the purposes of identifying IRP projects or asset management projects for that matter?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  I wouldn't go as far as to say that.  Each project, each facility is going to require its own assessment.  It may or may not involve looking at the specific pressure and MOP that is available at that system.  But certainly it is in our core process that when we are identifying needs on the system and evaluating options, stations are one of the things that we look at.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I recognize this is about the pilot but it also about what we going to do going forward.  I will defer further dialogue here about that, but understand we will be asking that station work be given priority as what you call an IRP solution or an asset management optimization ahead of adding pipe to the system or looking at other more expense alternatives.  So, I am encouraged to hear that there may be some opportunities going forward but we will defer those for another day.

I don't know that we need to turn it up, but I did a comparison of the two maps that were provided in FRPO 15 and there was, in round numbers, about 10 percent reduction in the flows out of the stations.  Yes, you might need to -- two in parallel, that is a hard thing to put on the screen.  I can see them on my tablet here, the two beside one another.  But I am just -- I am throwing out 10 percent because it's just a round number.  But can you tell me from the original design that was done for the purposes of your application in November of 2023 versus your updated response to our interrogatories what caused that 10 percent reduction in flow?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers.  So, Dwayne, as per the section A3.1, kind of going over all those timelines and changes, I know we talked about this a little bit on the working group which you were a part of.  Several things changed over the last 18 months, or since the beginning of the filing in July.  But some of the primary pieces there are our annual model rebuild and the update of the SRP from 2022 to 2024, as well as the annual model rebuild.  Those flows changed.  That includes existing customer usage, that includes the forecasted customer counts, or our company forecast -- our 10-year forecast, sorry.

It also includes our average demands for future customers as part of that SRP.  So that was the first change there.

The second one was again later on, about four months later.  Internally, we also had another; we will say it was an SRP update, to include the ET adjustments, which is primarily the egress factors there.  And I guess some of the references I should be referencing is the technical working group meeting 35.  I don't know if Preet can bring up some of that with the SRP changes.

And with the energy transition updates, I don't know if the slides there, but there were minutes from meeting 37, Dwayne, talking about those energy transition reductions due to egress, as well.

MR. QUINN:  Well, Kurtis, I know we have had dialogue in different meetings.  And, for the record, Enbridge has answered a lot of our questions.  But I think the Board needs to understand this, because what you have is evidence here that shows an evolution.

How much of that is evolution is about improving the model, versus how much of the evolution is about recognizing energy transition circumstances>  I think those two need to be differentiated in some way.

Is it possible you could summarize those thoughts in an undertaking to say here is why there has been a 10 -- I am using 10 percent, but you can put whatever factor you want on it -- from what was put in into the original interrogatory, to the updated interrogatory?  What were those changes and how did they affect the flow conditions in the South Huron/Sarnia system?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry.  Just to be clear, Dwayne, it is David Stevens speaking.

MR. QUINN:  Yes?

MR. STEVENS:  So you are asking for a summary of what are the main drivers for the change in system flows shown in the response to FRPO 15 as between the original filing of that response and the updated filing of that response?

MR. QUINN:  Well said.  Yes, thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Just one second, please.

So am I correct, Kurtis and Brad, that this is information that we could summarize for Dwayne in an answer as to what are the main drivers of this change?  Is it something we would be able to do?

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  Then we can provide that undertaking, Dwayne.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING JT1.17:  TO IDENTIFY CHANGES AND HOW DID THEY AFFECT THE FLOW CONDITIONS IN THE SOUTH HURON/SARNIA SYSTEM

MR. QUINN:  And reluctantly, these maps, because they have been helpful but I think we need to allow the witnesses to see.  If we could pull up FRPO 2, attachment 1, please?  Okay.  I am sorry, I don't have the screen on to see if it is up there.  Okay, we are.  Thank you.  Okay.

If we can advance to page 2, please?  Actually, well, I will leave it at that.  But I will let the witnesses tell us, if they need to see the first page.  But could somebody, Kurtis or Brad, explain what a steady state model verification does?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  Yes.  So steady state model verification, the intent here is to verify or ensure that the models that we have are accurately representing what is occurring in real life.  So the primary method that we do that is we take actual measured data, pressures, flows, consumptions, what is available, as well as temperature for the coldest day experienced in the previous winter.

We take that actual measured data and compare it and set up our model to simulate the exact same temperature and conditions, and we evaluate how those two compare.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And so this is a verification report as was received, it says, for both Chatham and Sarnia.  And clearly, our interest in this proceeding is the Sarnia area.

So if we look at page 3 actually, and we have station flows, Kurtis, before, I was asking for the station number.  And this is why, because they are listed by station numbers; some of them have similar names, so I think I can place them, some of them don't.

But I am seeing some fairly significant percentage differences that are seen between the model flows -- the SCADA flows and the model flows for the Sarnia area, specifically 13F, the McPlank, VIDAL and Churchill areas.

Can somebody help me with what the differences are and what Enbridge would do as a result of those differences?

MR. CLARK;  Bradley Clark:  I will start with some comments, and then I will turn it over to Kurtis to explain some of the details.  But one of the things I wanted to point out is some of these stations are not stations that are directly feeding the pilot area.  They are part of the upstream high pressure network, as well.

So when you are looking at these flows, you are getting a larger flow number than you are going to see in the pilot area.  But getting down to some of the specifics -- Kurtis, do you want to jump in?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  While you are doing that, if you can tell us which ones do impact the area?  Those are the ones we are interested in, is feeding (68.02)the high pressure, Brad.  I understand that that is outside of the scope of what we are talking about here.

So if you could focus on telling us which impact this area, and then what the differences are and what was done?

MR. LUBBERS:  Yeah, Dwayne, it is Kurtis.  So you can see here the stations that feed upstream of the pilot area are, like you said, McPlank, VIDAL and Churchill.  VIDAL actually feeds the high pressure system as well as the 420 system, which is part of the pilot.

There isn't SCADA flow on -- or, sorry, flow measurement on VIDAL station.  And it feeds two different cuts.  So you can imagine that is a bit challenging.

As noted there, there is an ante-bar meter at McPlank, which also causes us some challenges when we are trying to align those flows for the verification on that upstream system.

But like you said, this is a document to highlight challenges on situations or systems.  I would like to note that it is there to investigate, similar to the Ridgetown North station there.  And I know we have talked about this in the past, but I just wanted you to know, too, we are looking into things like this.

And on the Ridgetown station, we have actually determined one of the challenges there was an RTU coding issue.  And that is a actually being fixed.  So that is a good news thing.  I know we have talked about stuff like that before.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to separate these two questions, and will both preface it by I am not saying that okay the model needs work before you do the project.  But would it not be Enbridge's expectation that they would have confidence in their model before proceeding with a significant investment or a significant IRP investment to address the perceived supply constraint that is coming from the model?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  So, once again the focus of the IRP pilots is to look at the effects of the IRP programs on individual peak hour of the customers.  Again, that is why this area is being highlighted as the optimal area because of the coverage of ERTs in that area.  The upstream flow information, you are correct, we are always trying to strive to have it more accurate.  So, we are looking at correcting that one item that Kurtis has already identified.  Additionally we are adding pressure monitoring points as well to help further verifications.  But this is, again, one of the challenges of trying to measure these program and their effects when looking solely at a larger stream -- sorry, a larger system and the information contained there.  Whereas the ERTs are going to give us a better idea of what customers and how the impacts are going to materialize.  We can use those learnings going forward.

MR. QUINN:  I understand the difference Brad and that is what I was trying to get some comfort to Enbridge is I understand this is about measuring demand-side impacts but I am trying to, as much as possible, help the Board understand that there are supply solutions that may be applied at non-pilot IRPs in the future and to be able to have the Board rely upon Enbridge's information and forecasts to say that it is worthwhile to spend what could be tens or hundreds of millions of dollars we would want to have confidence in that model as a baseline.  And, I guess, the simpler question out of that would be:  Is it not realistic for the Board to be able to rely upon some forecasted information from Enbridge before they would approve a multi million dollar project?

MR. LUBBERS:  Dwayne, it is Kurtis again.  I just wanted to comment, too, on the fact that you are saying about the Sarnia system but similar to other requests, and I think it was in FRPO 2, where you were asking about additional pressure devices.  So, further to your point here about justifying that this system and model we are working -- we actually have pressure measurement devices on all of the stations now feeding that system to further improve this.  We also have it at -- have a pressure measurement device in Camlachie, not specifically at the low point.  We couldn't get a location there but very near in Camlachie as well as else where in the Sarnia system.  So, I am thinking that should help alleviate some of your concerns and we will improve this ongoing with the pressure measurement we are going do have installed.

MR. QUINN:  And thanks, Kurtis, I am encouraged that Enbridge is looking to improve things.  And I am separating that from the question I asked Brad, and that is should the Board not be able to rely upon forecasted need for additional supply that has been historically generated by these models?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  Yes, and we are constantly striving to make these models more accurate and add more complexities to them so that we can account for all these conditions and try to provide the best available information to the Board that we can.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So, I hear you mention you have added a device in Camlachie which will give us information.  I don't even remember where the reinforcement would have been that we were avoiding.  But I understand we don't have to do a reinforcement here.  But I guess the, I don't want to say the last question, but my summary on this is are there -- and, again, you are not going to -- well, maybe you have the unredacted copy in front of you, but I am not going to hit on anything confidential here.  But going down further into this report, there are a bunch of verification points that are redacted.  Can you tell me if any of those verification points are in Camlachie?

MR. LUBBERS:  This is Kurtis.  There is none of the verification points are, in this report, are in Camlachie, Dwayne, but I would expect the next verification report for the model rebuilds this year would have that data in it as we have a verification point out there now in Camlachie.

MR. QUINN:  So, in terms of what you are going to produce for the Board, with the -- again, presuming the Board approves this, you move forward with what your plans are, are you going to update this type of evidence for the Board in reporting on the benefits of what the investments have made in terms of demand reduction and the resulting system pressures that were established as a baseline for the purposes of justifying this project?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, can you expand on that please, Dwayne?  It is David Stevens speaking.

MR. QUINN:  What I am trying to do, David, is the one thing is to establish a baseline.  If you are doing a project you want to do as much as -- here are the current conditions.  We forecast the future condition in the future, three years down the road let's say.  What you want to do is, as much as possible, see what your resulting changes have created and clearly, and Brad and Kurtis know this, depending on geographically where you are going to get demand reduction is going to impact your pressures.  So, you're not looking for precise ability to say we have three years we think the pressure in Camlachie will be this, but it was that, so we are wrong.  No, no.  Your demand is distributed around your system the resulting pressures you get, but are those pressures consistent with what your model tells you you should have gotten based upon where the demand reductions occur.  So, I am actually trying to look forward to say:

What is Enbridge going to provide the Board to give it comfort over time on projects like this that the demand reductions are getting the desired effect that reduces the need for additional investment to address supply conditions that the demand reduction did not?

MR. STEVENS:  So, I am not sure that Enbridge could speak to what it is going to do for projects like this.  If the question is what is Enbridge going to do for this project, Enbridge has provided information about its evaluation and monitoring proposal.  I am sure the witnesses would be happy to talk to you about that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What aspects of that proposal that are generated from simulations or models is Enbridge going to provide given that we, in this case here, we don't have the baseline for verification point in Camlachie.  That's during -- I am not going to ask Enbridge to go back in time and put something out there two years ago.  It has been recognized.  It is needed.  They are going to address it.  Are they are going to report on what they found initially and what they find three years from now?

MR. STEVENS:  Do you have a comment about that, Kurtis?

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes.  There was a lot in that, Dwayne.  I think the first piece I would say -- sorry, it is Kurtis.  It is we don't know what customers specifically are going to partake in the ETE and DER programs.  So, to forecast, like, we are doing a broad-based system reduction, right?  Similar to table 14.  I'd say in terms of providing updates like David said we are going to follow the evaluation plan in D1.3 and then other updates will be to the technical working group as needed.  I think we've talked about that and then anything specific if we need to we may consider doing it in the annual report.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I don't have D1.3 in front of me.  I have two sections of IRs and something from last night.  Can you answer that question maybe directly for this project for the verification point that if you are getting in Camlachie what other reporting are going you to do on that project now and going forward?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  I think what we can say at this point in time is the whole intent behind this project is to develop learnings and we certainly will be communicating and sharing those learnings.  Exactly what those learnings are going to be or through what mechanism, I think that remains to be seen as we walk through this.  But the intent, Dwayne, is to share these learnings.  And with that particular point added as a pressure monitoring point in the future, as a verification point, you will see that appear on future verification reports, as well.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. CLARK:  So I guess just to set that expectation, I mean, we intend to share our learnings.  I can't exactly speak to in what form or mechanism or format they are going to look at, at this point in time.  But certainly that is the intent.

MR. QUINN:  I am encouraged by the intent, Brad.  But if you think about it from our perspective, this verification point we got as a result of asking questions in this proceeding.  And therefore, unless we asked these questions, are we going to see it each year?  I mean, I was hoping to open the door for Enbridge to say "Sure, this is something that we have modelled and we are adjusting our model.  We are going to learn that we need to have low point assessment and verify it.  And so that will be reported on as part of our communications to the Board in terms of what we have learned."

Is that not realistic?

MR. CLARK:  I think, in concept, that is realistic.  I think the only thing I am struggling with is trying to define at this point in time a precise form or mechanism or format in which we are going to do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well --


MR. CLARK:  We do have several mechanisms out there.  We have working group meetings, we have annual reports.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I may have to rely on whatever we can to get on the record.  I would like to do this collaboratively.  We are encouraging you to do it.  Enbridge can decide whether it wants to put anything in its submissions to the Board in writing or orally at the end of the day.

I think we all learn together in this process, and the more that that information is reported, the Board gets confidence, ratepayers get confidence and then we all say we are on the right track towards doing something different and better.  And that is what we are seeking.

So I am going to get off my podium now, and suggest that -- I appreciate all the answers to the questions we had, and we will see what you put in your submissions.  And we will reply as accordingly.

But understand, I am just trying to do as much as we can technically, to give the Board and ratepayers confidence that the money is being well spent.

So I will leave it at that, and thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Dwayne.  Thank you.  Let's move on to APPrO.  Or do your questions cover everything, of Colm?

MR. BOYLE:  I submitted all of mine in writing, so I don't have anything.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Good.  Thank you.  Moving on to VECC.  Shelley.

Examination by Ms. Grice


MS. GRICE:  Thanks, Jamie.  Good afternoon.  Shelley, representing VECC.  I some sorry, I can't put my camera on.  I am in a location where my Internet is a little unpredictable, so I apologize for that.

Okay.  I have just a few questions.  The first area that I wanted to ask you a question on was CCC No. 1.  Thank you.  So, in this interrogatory, CCC asked for Enbridge to provide all the materials to Enbridge Gas's board of directors and executive leadership team regarding the pilot projects.  And in the response, Enbridge Gas says that they used the technical working group presentations for the executive leadership, but that there were no materials presented to the board of directors.

And then, if we can just go to the interrogatory that was referenced here as well, which is Environmental Defence No. 2?  I just wanted to ask a couple of questions related to that interrogatory.

So in response to ED 2, part A, where Environmental Defence asked for all the feedback from the technical working group related to the pilot projects and on the pilot projects in general, in the response Enbridge Gas provided all of the presentations in attachment 1.  But in attachment 2, they provided meeting minutes where the member feedback was captured by OEB Staff.

And so I just, to bring it back to CCC No. 1, I just wondered if it is possible and if it exists if Enbridge Gas could provide the same information?  So that would be the feedback that was received from the executive leadership and the board of directors, if there is some document that captures their feedback on the pilot projects?

MS. MOORE:  Hi, this is Alison Moore:  I am not aware of any document that exists that captures the feedback in that manner, formally.

MS. GRICE:  So it would have been provided verbally?  Is that what I take from that?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  That is my understanding.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Next, I have questions related to Board Staff No. 12.  And in this interrogatory, there was a question about whether or not Enbridge Gas has conducted research to identify any gaps in the enhanced targeted energy efficiency program based on feedback from its residential, commercial and industrial customer during stakeholdering and marketing efforts for both pilot project areas.

So I just had a question on, like, with respect to the Southern Lake Huron pilot project, did or has Enbridge Gas specifically targeted low-income customers as part of its stakeholdering efforts?  If you could just speak to that, I would appreciate it.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  Just a moment to confer.  Geoff Chung:  No specific engagement efforts were done targeting specifically for low-income customers.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So just with respect to the rest of the responses in this interrogatory, I have a few questions regarding the scope of programming that is being proposed for low-income customers.  So if you will just bear with me, I will work my way through the response.

So the first part says that existing DSM programs have been leveraged.  And I just want to confirm, my understanding is that, for low-income customers, the DSM programs that are available as part of the 2023 to 2025 DSM program are going to continue, and that they are going to be paid through -- paid for by that DSM budget.  Do I have that correct with respect to the low-income programming?

MR. CHUNG:  Yes, that would be correct, and that further details on that would be available on Staff 13B, in terms of the details on that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then the next paragraph, where it says:
"Net new ETEE offerings not leveraging existing DSM programming are being proposed in the form of the limited ETEE offering for advanced technologies."

Can you just confirm if this applies to low-income programming, or if low-income programming is not part of this offer?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  I would say low-income programming is not specifically incorporated into these advanced technology offerings.  They can participate, but there is not a separate offering for targeting affordable housing customers.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then with respect to new incentives, they don't apply specifically to low income customers either.  Is that correct?  Can you just clarify that?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  Can you clarify what you mean by "new incentives"?

MS. GRICE:  I believe that under ETEE there are additional incentives being offered.  But I just want to confirm that I don't believe that is for the low income programming.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  That is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then -- thank you.  And then with respect to demand response programming, can you just confirm, is that again not specifically targeted towards low income?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  That is correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then I just -- there is just one piece of the evidence I just want to clarify.  Can we please go to C1.2, page 7.  So, down at the bottom there the evidence starts to talk about the Southern Lake Huron project, and if you look at the second bullet regarding the balanced customer mix and potential for scalability it says:
"The customer base served by the Southern Lake Huron system consists of a balanced mix of residential, commercial and industrial customers."

I am just going to stop there.  Low income isn't individually specified.  Is there a reason for that or is it captured under residential?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  It would generally be covered under the residential and commercial buckets, depending if it is single family or multi-residential affordable housing.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And the last part of this paragraph says:
"The customer mix is expected to foster transferrable learnings."

I just wanted to ask, so would -- is Enbridge Gas saying that there will be transferrable learnings as part of this pilot project for low income customers, is that a reasonable outcome from the pilot project?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  Just one moment to confer.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  Yes, so far as, as we just discussed that low income or income qualified customers are a subset of residential customers, we think there would be transferrable learnings, but also as we just discussed as there is no programming that is targeting to low income or income qualified customers obviously that would not be transferrable.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then just my last question, in your evidence you say that there are I believe 25,400 residential customers.  Do you have a sense for me of what the percentage of low income is of that amount?  Is that something that you know or can estimate at this point?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  Certainly not something I can estimate off the top of my head.  I don't believe we have anything specific to this area, but I mean we would have sort of generic numbers that we could probably apply to this area.

MS. GRICE:  Would you be able do that in an undertaking?

MR. STEVENS:  Hi, certainly.  We can provide an undertaking to provide information that we have, either specifically or generically, about what proportion of the customer base in the pilot project area would be considered low income.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That would be great.  I would appreciate it.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that JT1.18.
UNDERTAKING JT1.18:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ENBRIDGE HAS, EITHER SPECIFICALLY OR GENERICALLY, ABOUT WHAT PROPORTION OF THE CUSTOMER BASE IN THE PILOT PROJECT AREA WOULD BE CONSIDERED LOW INCOME.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Shelley, thank you.  It is just about 5 after 2:00.  Let's move on to Mr. Buonaguro, OGVG.  Did you have anything?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I do.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.
Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  Mike Buonaguro; I am counsel for OGVG.  I only have a few clarifying questions and I'm just poking through the application I thought a way for me to frame it would be to have you pull up Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 2, attachment 2.  So E, Tab 1, Schedule 2, attachment 2.

And so, this is -- I am pulling just a reference for the rate classes just to try and to pinpoint exactly who is eligible for participation.  And I previewed my questions for you in an e-mail, I guess, last week, so you should hopefully have a sense of where I am going with this.

My understanding from the project descriptions is that it's really -- all the customers that are eligible for both the -- both aspects of the program the demand response and ETEE.  I don't know if I got enough Es in there, but part 1 and part 2 of the program are either rate M1 rate M2.  Is that right?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  That is right.  The ETEE program and the DR programming is focused towards general service customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And within M2 if they are over 50,000 cubic metres usage they won't be eligible.  They are also excluded?  It is the very large end of the general service commercial and industrial customers?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  I mean as long as they are a general service customer they would be eligible for the programming but, yes, hopefully that answers your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I thought I saw reference there that you split the large sort of the M2 customers between 50,000 under and 50,000 over and the over 50,000 were excluded but I can get that from the evidence.  My real interest though is confirming what I sent in my e-mail last week.  My understanding is that anything above that there is nothing in this program being targeted towards them.  There is nothing in the ETEE and there is nothing in the demand response program, so M4 and above are the contract rate customers who are not part of this pilot?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers.  So, Michael, there is only one contract customer in the pilot area.  And I think we answered that in PP 9, in IR PP 9, and it is a fully interruptible customer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, that was one of my questions earlier and I didn't see that, so I appreciate that.  So there -- Right.  So, even when we are talking about contract rate customers in the pilot program located in this particular area of the province it is purely theoretical because there is really just the one and you're telling me he is interruptible, that that customer is interruptible, in any event.

MR. LUBBERS:  Yes, the customer is fully interruptible.  And I don't believe they are allowed to partake in the ETEE and DR but I will let Geoff comment on that piece.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chun.  Yes, that is correct.  They are not within the scope of this pilot for that one interruptible customer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I apologize, I just interrupted when you were giving me the response for the interrogatory reference that set that out.  Can you provide that reference?

MR. LUBBERS:  It is exhibit IPP 9, and I believe we referenced it in APPrO 1.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Now, just briefly, based on the updates to the evidence and based on what I have heard today, my understanding is that this is no longer really a pilot that is addressing an actual facility need anymore.  It has become more of a pure pilot, geared towards getting results about the effectiveness of the measures that you are testing.  Is that fair?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  Yes, that is fair.  I would just clarify that the primary objectives of the pilot application have not changed.  And they have consistently been to inform Enbridge on the impacts to peak hour demand and programmatic learnings from demand side alternatives.  And those two primary objectives have been consistent throughout the course of this application and its updates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  And my only -- what I have noticed though is, and again, if you are looking at this allocation sheet here, is that I assume that the reason why all of the costs were originally being allocated to the Union South rate zone is because you were -- or it was originally designed, targeting the -- making a facility in that area to obviate the need for that facility, and then you are replacing it with these program spending.

But now, it seems that the pilot is now a generic pilot, which is going to -- is looking for results in terms of testing the effectiveness of the measures as opposed to actually targeting an actual facility that you don't want to build.  Is that fair?

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Michael, maybe I can step in; it is David Stevens speaking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  As we indicated, the cost allocation experts aren't here.  I mean, I suppose the witnesses here could talk at 10,000 feet.  But I wonder if it makes more sense to take away a question about this.  I mean, I understand your question to be has Enbridge reconsidered the cost allocation directed solely at the Union South rate zone, now that there is -- now that the facility alternative has disappeared from the Southern Lake Huron pilot project.  Is that fair?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is fair.  Yes.  I would take that as an undertaking, if you can.  I appreciate that.

MR. STEVENS:  I mean, it strikes me it would probably be useful information people might want to know, before any next steps.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So we will make that JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING JT1.19:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER ENBRIDGE HAS RECONSIDERED THE COST ALLOCATION DIRECTED SOLELY AT THE UNION SOUTH RATE ZONE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And as a second part of that, it would be useful I think to see the allocation across all rate zones, on the theory that it is now a pilot that is being used to provide information useful in all areas, as opposed to displacing a facility in a particular area.

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps we can make that a separate undertaking, Michael, just for ease, that Enbridge to provide an alternate view cost of allocation, where the costs are allocated to customers in all rate zones.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So that second one will be JT1.20.
UNDERTAKING JT1.20:  TO PROVIDE AN ALTERNATE VIEW COST OF ALLOCATION, WHERE THE COSTS ARE ALLOCATED TO CUSTOMERS IN ALL RATE ZONES

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Michael, thanks, very much.  Let's move on to BOMA.  I know we have a break scheduled for 2:30.  Maybe I will ask you, David, if you and your witnesses would like to break now for 10 minutes?  That is fine.  And then we can start BOMA right after the break?  Up to you.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I think, Ian, maybe you can let us know:  Do you expect to be shorter than 45 minutes?

MR. JARVIS:  I don't expect to be shorter, but you never know.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, why don't we take the break now and then, Ian, we can start with you right afterwards?

MR. JARVIS:  That sounds good.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So it is roughly 2:15.  Let's say we will be back at 2:25.  Thanks, everyone.
--- Recess taken at 2:17 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:26 p.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Jarvis, over to you for BOMA.
Examination by Mr. Jarvis


MR. JARVIS:  Thank you, and good afternoon, panel.  As you say, I am Ian Jarvis representing the Building Owners and Managers Association and let me start with the context for our participation in this proceeding.  BOMA is highly supportive of IRP as, quite simply, a critical part of an affordable energy transition.  Our members are looking to engage fully with Enbridge and with the IESO in a standardized process whereby large commercial buildings with high gas use, high electricity use can be engaged early and be able to co-invest in peak demand reduction projects, which are critical to our decarbonization efforts.  We have to reduce peak loads to make electrification affordable and practical, so we are looking to work together with Enbridge and the IESO on these things.  We are supportive of the proposed Huron pilot to the extent it answers important questions about the potential for peak demand reduction and enables scaling up and province-wide application of the principals that everyone is working on here.  If we have a concern, it is that the pilot doesn't delay IRP action in the interim.  So, this is something we need to get on with now and we think we can help.

Could we begin by turning to Exhibit D, Tab 1 Schedule 2, the table 2.  It's a bit further down.  There we go.  So, this is a very helpful breakdown of the customers in this region, which is primarily the City of Sarnia with I think a population of 72,000.  So, it would be seen as a small city.  The breakdown of annual gas consumption in the right-hand column we found helpful, but looking to relate it to some of the other buildings that we know.  And I couldn't find a reference to the total metres cubed per year, the number to which these percentages are applied.  Could somebody point me in that direction?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  Are you referring to the total annual normalized consumption?  Or are you asking for --


MR. JARVIS:  Yes, the total annual normalized consumption.  Yes.

MR. CHUNG:  I do not believe that is on the record.

MR. JARVIS:  Could that be provided just, again, to give the context -- in fact, we are interested in seeing the table expanded in a couple of different ways so we get a better view of the customers that are affected by this.  And picking up on Mr. Brophy's comments from this morning, we know Sarnia is a petrochemical centre, but I think I understood from the response to Mike's question that there is no big industry in this group.  The industrial participants are small industrial.  Any big players are either fed separately or not within the pilot area.  Is that correct?

MR. LUBBERS:  It is Kurtis Lubbers.  If you are referring to the large petrochemical contract customers they are all on the upstream systems not part of this pilot.  This pilot is focused on the general service customers as well as the one contract customer who is not -- I can confirm is not a petrochemical company.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  That is helpful.  There is quite a number of multi-residential, and if you Google maps Sarnia there are a few kind of medium high rise apartment buildings there.  We have touched on the industrial.  Looking at the commercial --


MR. STEVENS:  Sorry to interrupt, Ian.  I just don't want to get too far ahead of ourselves.  It sounded like maybe you expected that we'd agreed to answer something but I am not sure we actually got to that point of defining what it was.

MR. JARVIS:  You are right.  We passed over.  The total metres cubed per year, the normalized annual consumption.  Could there be an undertaking to provide that?

MR. STEVENS:  And is that information that would be readily available for this customer group, Geoff?

MR. JARVIS:  No, I think it is the whole group together that we could apply those percentage numbers to in the right-hand column.

MR. STEVENS:  I understand, but it sounds from what Kurtis was saying that this is a bit of a subset here in that there is some customers not included.  So, I just want to make sure that for this subset the information is available either individually or completely.

MR. CHUNG:  Correct, that is available.

MR. STEVENS:  So, Ian, we can provide an undertaking to add a column at table 2 at -- I am sorry I don't have the reference in front of me that I can see what this is.  This is exhibit --


MR. JARVIS:  This is D1, Schedule 2.  Table 2.

MR. STEVENS:  So, Enbridge Gas will add a column to table 2 at Exhibit D, Tab 1, Schedule 2 indicating the weather-normalized annual system load in metres cubed for each of the sectors shown in that table.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ian, I take it that is okay with you the way it has been --


MR. JARVIS:  Yes, thank you.  I apologize, I was just waiting for the undertaking number but that is perfect.  Yes, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is okay.  So, we will make that JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING JT1.21:  TO ADD A COLUMN TO TABLE 2 AT EXHIBIT D, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2 INDICATING THE WEATHER-NORMALIZED ANNUAL SYSTEM LOAD IN METRES CUBED FOR EACH OF THE SECTORS SHOWN IN THAT TABLE.

MR. JARVIS:  And the commercial piece of this mix, the 1820 buildings, we didn't see any -- and our members don't know of any major commercial office buildings within Sarnia, but can we assume that this group includes the hospital, includes schools, includes Lambton College which I think is within the city shopping centres like Lambton Mall, City Home, community centres, grocery stores, is that what is in that commercial group?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  Yes, I believe that includes all of the customers generally the customers that you have listed up there.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay, thank you.  And if you add the commercial multi-residential --


MR. LUBBERS:  Ian, it's Kurtis.  If I could interrupt, there's just -- there are some isolated systems off the high pressure system upstream.  So, I just want to clarify and my colleague too, as well.  I think most of those customers are in there.  I just want don't want to one hundred percent confirm that they all are, but most should be.  Yes.  If not --


MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  Sorry, I think we would be particularly interested, again BOMA members aren't explicitly there, but we are looking at the broader commercial sector.  The hospital and Lambton College, I think we'd be particularly interested in those where the -- because they're representative of the large users that we're speaking to here.

MR. LUBBERS:  This is Kurtis --


MR. JARVIS:  Is that confirmed?  Yes?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  Maybe I can jump in here.  I mean, if you are asking us to confirm specific customers, Ian, I think we might have a bit of a challenge doing that.  So, we can tell you that commercial customers in general, when we refer to customer customers, your description is accurate.  Hospitals, schools, I am trying to remember some of the other things that you described those for sure would be what we consider commercial customers.  If you are asking us to identify specific customers I don't think we are comfortable doing that.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  Understood.  Adding the commercial multi-residential and industrial together is about 2500 customers in total.  That is about 8 percent of the total number of buildings.  I believe it is.  But is that a typical customer mix for Enbridge across the province, so the pilot results can be scaled and replicated?

MR. JOHNSON:  Give us one moment, please.

MR. JARVIS:  Of course.

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  Yes, we feel that that is representative generally, you know, the biggest group by customer count is your residentials which account for over 90 percent but they are only about two-third of the flow.

MR. JARVIS:  Right.  Okay.  That is helpful.  But just observing here, there are no very big buildings in this group.  So, if we looked at, for example Hamilton or an Ottawa or a Toronto, you know, the big institutional buildings, the big commercial office buildings, there are none of those in this market group.  Correct?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark:  Yes, that is correct.  And as you point out, there would be variability in the breakdown per location and per municipality.   But, when you look at our holistic level, this is pretty consistent.

MR. JARVIS:  Understood.  Can we scroll down to table 3, please?  So here, we see the big division.  By the way, these tables are extremely helpful -- the division between small and large.  And the commercial-institutional breakdown, let me just -- I am flipping backwards and forwards, here, between things.

So the total number of customers is 1,932.  And this is the commercial-industrial breakdown.  But the multi‑residential is not in there.  Is it possible to include multi‑residential in this group, as essentially larger users?  That is an interesting part of our constituency.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  I think that is a reasonable request to be able to include the multi‑residential as part of this breakdown.

MR. JARVIS:  We would find that helpful.  And similarly, it was interesting that large -- the threshold for large on this table was 50,000.  I believe when we are looking at the DSM proceeding, 100,000 cubic metres a year is the breakdown.  So that would presumably represent these somewhat smaller buildings.  But we are in -- and this is just 83 buildings over 53,000 cubic metres.

If we looked at over 100,000 cubic metres, and perhaps for the very small number that are over a million cubic metres, because these are where we believe the big opportunities are:  Could the table be further broken down between less than 50,000 but then greater than 50,000, greater than 100,000, greater than a million cubic metres, so again, we know what kind of subset we might be looking at?  Can that be done?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Ian.  It is David Stevens speaking.  So the first request was to advise as to what is the total number of customers, percentage of customers and percentage of 2023 weather-normalized annual system load in table 3 that relates to multi‑residential buildings.

Again, that would be provided on a reasonable-efforts basis; if the information exists, we will provide it.  If doesn't exist, then we would let you know it doesn't exist.

But do I have that right, as your first request?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  I think, David, it is more just to add it to the mix, so that rather than looking at 1,932 buildings, we would add in the multi-residential, broken down between the different annual gas consumptions.

MR. STEVENS:  We can do that.  But again, I assume -- okay, we can do that.  And then your second question was?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, David, why don't I stop you there?  It sounds like we have an undertaking there.  So why don't I make that JT1.23, and then you can move on to the next item?

MR. JARVIS:  Well, I think where David was going would be to complete this undertaking, which is further subdivision, not just less than 50,000 and more than 50,000, but for any buildings that are above 100,000 and above a million cubic metres per year, within that group.  So it is a bigger table.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And here, I was trying to be efficient by jumping in.  But I will leave it to the two of you to sort out.  So David, what is your undertaking?

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So I believe JT1.22 will be to separately identify the multi‑residential buildings within table 3.  Do I have that right?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Table 3, have included the tab 1, schedule 2.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, please.

MR. STEVENS:  And then I would suggest it would be more efficient to add a separate question, which would add -- ask where Enbridge would subdivide the large customer category into above 50,000, above 100,000, and above a million?

MR. JARVIS:  That is exactly correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And it looks like Daniel has something to add.

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes.  I just wanted to clarify:  So it would be less than 50,000, 50,000 to 100,000, and then 100,000 to a million, and above a million.  And I just want to, A, confirm that that is correct?

MR. JARVIS:  That is correct.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  And then the second is just to add the caveat that if the above a million -- I mean, the answer may be zero, in which case that is fine.  But if it was, like, one, again I don't know that we would want to identify a single customer.

MR. JARVIS:   No.

MR. JOHNSON:  So we may have to group that into just above a hundred thousand.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  If that is the case, if there is only one, absolutely we understand.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So...

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Maybe that is just me then, but that sounds like two separate undertakings, is it not?  JT1.22, JT1.23 would then be the subdivision into individual  consumption categories.  Is that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes.  And for JT1.23, Enbridge will provide a different version of table 3 --


MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  -- that shows large customers categorized between 50,000 and 100,000 metres cubed, 100,000 and a million metres cubed and over a million metres cubed, subject to the caveat that if there is only one customer in any one of those categories, then Enbridge will combine that category with the next closest category.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Can I add one further clarification?  I am totally fine to leave it as two separate undertakings.  But are you okay if we actually end up combining it as one single table that has the different breakdowns that you wanted, and we include the multi‑residential into those numbers?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  Thanks, Daniel.  That is exactly what we would like, is one expanded table.

MR. JOHNSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So not to jump in again, but are you more comfortable keeping this as one undertaking, then, and one table be produced?

MR. JARVIS:  That is what we are looking for, whether it logically fits as a separate.  But what Daniel just described is exactly what we would hope for, one big table.

MR. STEVENS:  My apologies.  Can we have a moment, please?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.

MR. STEVENS:  Well, I will admit that when we talked about this, Ian, we were evenly split; we had two interpretations of what is being asked.  And we are not objecting to any of it.  We just want to make sure we are being efficient.

MR. JARVIS:  No, I get that.  Yes, sorry, for not being clear.

MR. STEVENS:  Is it sufficient for your purposes that Enbridge Gas will provide an updated version of table 3 that includes multi‑residential customers?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And that includes three categories of large customers, 50,000 to 100,000, 100,000 to a million and over a million?

MR. JARVIS:  That is exactly what we would like to see, David.  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So on that basis, and I apologize for muddying the record, Jamie, I think we would do all of that as JT1.22.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that is fine, I am here for you.  So we will keep that as JT1.22, and that will be a single undertaking.
UNDERTAKING JT1.22:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED VERSION OF TABLE 3 AT EXHIBIT D, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2 THAT INCLUDES MULTI‑RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS, INCLUDING THREE CATEGORIES OF LARGE CUSTOMERS, 50,000 TO 100,000; 100,000 TO A MILLION; AND OVER A MILLION CUBIC METRES

MR. JARVIS:  Perfect.  Can we turn to D1.3, "LE Measurement."  And kind of starting at the top, because there is -- the questions arise in a number of these areas.

At paragraph 2 of this, it refers to the existing metering, which kind of mystified us a bit with residential and small commercial.  Usually we see it the other way, that interval meterings on the bigger buildings.  But it sounds like that happened through an old pilot project.  It is just kind of coincidental.  And my question is, I assume this is not AMI, it is maybe older technology.  And do customers get access to the data from that metering, the small commercial and residential, through Green Button?  Or will they?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  No, this is older technology as you had mentioned.  So, it is effectively an electronic device on an old traditional meter that is just recording dial turns and it is one directional.  You still have to visit the meter to download the data, it doesn't have that capability to communicate information.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  That is helpful, thank you.  And the plan is, as part of this project, to install a larger commercial institutional customers and we've already covered there's only one contract customer, they are not part of the project.  There is no other customers that you are aware of commercial, from the commercial sector, that have existing interval meters through the previous Run It Right program or anything else?

MR. LUBBERS:  Ian, can we just confer?

MR. JARVIS:  Of course.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  So, first thing I wanted to clarify, Ian, is you were saying commercial customers just the existing metering covers residential and a large number of the smaller commercial customers, so a number of them will already be covered.  In terms of if we looked into whether there was any existing metering for Run It Right customers, we had not.  I mean, that was a fairly small program and this is a fairly small customer group out of it.  Might there be one or two customers with overlap?  Potentially, but we hadn't looked into that.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  Now, my interest is the larger customers as you can see that's where we're focusing, that we think could have a potentially disproportionate impact on peak demand reduction, so that helps.  And when we get to paragraph 7 that is talking about AMR and ERTs and so on, is the consideration with this that the metering that would go into larger commercial customers as part of this pilot would be up to date, would be compatible with AMI?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark.  Yes.  So, as we deploy new technologies it will be the most up to date and would be more in the realm of an AMI.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  That is good to hear.  So, small step on the way to AMI which we are also advocating.  And, just for interest, has there been any conversation at Enbridge Gas about multiyear financial incentives for measured peak demand?  There is technology that can reduce peak demand but has there been thinking within this pilot of paying people, paying building owners, to reduce demand, like a new kind of incentive?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  That type of program design has not been considered as part of the pilot program offerings.  The program offerings that were considered for the pilot project, for CNI customers, is the leveraging existing DSM programs through their -- whether it's the direct install, custom or prescriptive offerings.

MR. JARVIS:  But with the commercial I think it is the custom programs you are looking at, right?

MR. CHUNG:  Yes, I believe I said that on the custom.

MR. JARVIS:  For interest from the metering that you already have on that part of the system, do you already have peak day demand but also peak hourly flows, the profiles of how gas is used across the different stations there?  Do we know when the peaks are on the peak day, what time of day, so that we can kind of figure out what the contribution of commercial buildings is to those peaks?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers.  There is a few things there, Ian.  So, we can look at the upstream systems to determine when the peak day or peak hour is on the peak day.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.

MR. LUBBERS:  We can look at that as part of this at a high level.  We have baseline data on, like we said, a majority of the customers in this system from a peak hour perspective as part of these ERTs, like I said, we have been gathering and converting those ERTs to gather hourly data.  Doing monthly reads to gather the hourly data for those customers whose have the ERTs.  A lot of the ERTs are the small or the residential with a subset of small commercial.  So, as par part of this pilot we will work to develop hourly profiles and that is kind of highlighted in D1.3, D1.2 to generate flow profiles for each customer before the ETEE or DR.  I guess in commercial it is just the ETEE measures.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  Yes, I recall in Phase 1 of rebasing Enbridge was good enough to produce that peak day profile with that big finger first thing in the morning.  And we had a lot of interest in how much does commercial, especially larger commercial buildings, contribute to that morning peak.  But it sounds like we can't produce that from the stations, the metering already installed on the five stations that Dwayne was looking at earlier.

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis.  There is no flow measurement on those six stations feeding the specific IP system.  Sorry, I say IP.  420 kPa MOP system.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  So, we don't have it?

MR. LUBBERS:  We don't have that specific flow for that specific system, that profile.  We have upstream.  It will have other customers that are not part of this pilot within that.  So, that will be a bit of a challenge.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay.  And I think I will skip the next piece.  We have the public data from the ECBM planned for the hospital there.  But we are not certain right now whether the hospital is fed directly as part of the pilot.  But they have some interesting comments about intention.  I can come back to that later as to how we are engaging what we think is a small number of customers with big buildings.  Can we turn to F1.1, engagement, please, which is page 1.  Thank you.  And in paragraph 1, with all the stakeholders you have spoken to and there is a great list there, has there been any direct communication with large commercial institutional, individual large commercial institutional customers, or industrial customers to determine their interest in this to make them aware of the opportunity to begin the idea of maybe co-investing in peak demand reduction through technologies like, you know, exhaust air heat recovery?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung.  Just a moment to confer. Geoff Chung.  So, we had had some preliminary conversations with some of the consultants in the area that do handle some of the large customers, institutional customers in the Sarnia area.  But we are also furthering, as you can see on D1.3, paragraph 8, I believe.  We are going to -- we are in the progress of starting an engagement effort to be able to contact these -- some of these commercial and industrial customers about their interest in participating in energy efficiency solutions.

MR. JARVIS:  Yes, that is great.  So on paragraph 4 of the section we are looking at right now, in exhibit F, you are referring to during the pilot there would be target engagement with businesses.  Can we assume that will include, let's say, what we think is a relatively small number of customers with bigger buildings?  Is it likely that they will be included in those conversations?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Sorry, Ian, I just want to make sure I understand your question.  If you are asking will we be engaging the commercial customers, in particular, the larger commercial customers who are part of the pilot as part of this?  Then the answer is yes.

MR. JARVIS:  Okay, great.  And that means directly, not through consultants.  But just for reference, I know that the Sarnia hospital, the Bluewater Health facility there and the Bluewater School Board would have no knowledge of this pilot, and would be -- would love to help in any way that they can.  So I think there is a very real interest around this.

Can we finally just turn to D1.2, table 1, the timelines, please?  And then this sort of gets finally into a concern about delay.  So as we see this, we are expecting to see the evaluation of the overall project at the end of 2027.  But meanwhile, we have three years of potentially capital projects happening, where BOMA members would like to again be part -- would like to have the conversation, would like to see what we can contribute to peak demand reduction.

Is that the case?  Or will there be the opportunity in the interim, as all of this is unfolding, for parallel activity around IRP proceedings as they occur to I guess formally and explicitly engage BOMA members, owners of big buildings in the conversations around other IRP proceedings across the province?

MR. STEVENS:  It is David Stevens speaking:  I heard a bunch of questions kind of wrapped up into one, there.  Is the core of this whether Enbridge is planning to move in series, such that there is no opportunity to do any more?

Or let me ask it in the positive:  Are you asking for confirmation that Enbridge will be proceeding to consider and potentially implement other IRP plans at the same time as the pilot is ongoing?

MR. JARVIS:  Thank you for, so often, clarifying my questions, David.  Yes.  And formally inviting owners of big buildings to be part of those IRP proceedings, early enough that they can potentially contribute something useful to peak demand reduction.

MR. STEVENS:  Okay.  So that is kind of the second question.  So maybe I am not sure, Alison or Whitney, whether you can answer as to the impact of the pilot on being able to undertake other IRP plans?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  So we are absolutely continuing the assessment, and would move forward with an IRP plan where it is identified as technically and economically viable.  An IRPA or combination is the optimal solution to address a facility need.  That would absolutely be happening at the same time as the pilot, and would not be impeded in any way as we are undertaking the pilot to further inform that broader IRP assessment process.

To the second part of your question, I just want to make sure that I am clear there:  You are asking at what stage in that process would large building owners be engaged?

MR. JARVIS:  Yes.  How would they be aware when an IRP proceeding is taking place?  How would the big commercial buildings in the area be notified this is going on, you have a chance to contribute, we could do this?  How would they know?  Because right now, they don't.

MS. MOORE:  I will just take one moment to confer here.

MR. JARVIS:  Thank you.

MS. MOORE:  Thanks for your patience, Mr. Jarvis.  We were just having a brief discussion here around the timing of the engagement in relation to identifying a system need that would be viable for an IRPA or combination.  And I think, you know, as you can appreciate, we are still working through this process.  And I think we would have to consider it in relation to the specific project that was identified.

MR. JARVIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Going back to the opening statement of support, big building owners, public sector and private sector, have a real interest in working with Enbridge, again, to make this energy transition as affordable as it can be.  And we are looking for direct and explicit involvement and engagement, again early enough that we can plan to make a contribution.

We believe that commercial buildings have a disproportionate contribution to make because of large ventilation systems and internal process loads and so on.  So I guess we will be advocating for a formal role in being informed when these projects are coming up, and having a chance to contribute.

Those are my questions.  Thank you, so much, panel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ian, thanks very much.  We are moving on to CCC.  Julie?
Examination by Ms. Girvan


MS. GIRVAN:  Good afternoon, panel.  Julie Girvan on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.  I will be very brief.

To David, I wanted to point you to CCC 16, which does deal with the cost allocation issues, so in terms of who is paying and the lion's share of the Union South residential customers, I think.  So. Anyway, I just wanted to point you to that.  I missed it the other day, so it does refer to that on the next page, I think.  I think it is CCC 16.  Sorry.  Yes, the next page.  It has the allocation there.  So that is fine.

I wanted to ask the panel a couple of questions about the technical working group.  And I think you meet fairly often, is that correct, every couple of weeks or something?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore:  That is correct.  So our standard cadence is biweekly, and then there are cases where it needs to be rescheduled as required.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I note that in Environmental Defence No. 2, there is a whole list of what people have said through the meetings with respect to the pilots.  And we don't really need to turn it up, because I would like to just get a sense from you, is there general support in that group for your pilot, as proposed, today?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  Yes.  There is general support.  We had included that as well in our April 30th letter to the Ontario Energy Board as well.  In that letter as well we had -- we had circulated that to the working group in advance to ensure they were comfortable with our language and we had also noted that, you know, there remained, you know, there was a consensus around all elements and that where there were items to be brought forward they would be brought forward in this proceeding.

MS. GIRVAN:  So, in this proceeding your expectation is that generally members of that group that are intervenors are going to support your proposals?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  As we had included in that letter, there was general support for the approach for the Southern Lake Huron pilot application as confirmed with the working group which, you know, doesn't necessarily mean complete consensus on all -- sorry, I should just clarify on all elements.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I guess the difficulty I am having is I am not going to know what opposition is from those groups, potentially, on certain items until, I guess, final argument.  I guess that is right?

MS. STEVENS:  I think it is fair to say, Julie, that the minutes and I will call them "markups" of the draft versions of the materials do set out some of the views of the working group members, I am sure Alison is probably reluctant to speak on their behalf too far in terms of where they are at.  But as you will see from the materials there appears to be conceptual support for this pilot and the idea of this pilot but maybe not line by line support by every participant for every item.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And what about Board Staff?  I know that they sit on the group as well.  Right?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  They do.

MS. GIRVAN:  And are you receiving general support from Board Staff as well?

MS. MOORE:  I would say there was general support in our conversations with the working group broadly.

MS. GIRVAN:  Including Board Staff?

MS. MOORE:  I would say so.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I step in, Julie?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a couple direct questions of the witnesses?  Is it correct that generally speaking the technical working group disagreed with the amount of promotion of gas options in the program, particularly gas heat pumps and too much hybrid heating and not enough electrification, number 1.  And number 2, is it correct that the technical working group on the other side strongly agreed that even though you are not deferring a facility at this point the ability to learn from the pilot because of the ERTs was an important consideration going forward with it.  Are these two things correct?

MS. MOORE:  To the first point around continued opposition by some members around gas heat pumps, that is correct.

To your second point around the importance and the priority of the ERTs in the consideration of moving forward with Southern Lake Huron that is absolutely correct.  I am just going to take a moment to confer with the panel on the other element you noted and I just want to make sure I have this correct, that was the degree of electrification measures in relation to the advanced technologies.  Is that correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. MOORE:  Okay.  I will just take one moment there.  Thanks for the moment there, Mr. Shepherd.  I am not sure about that additional element on the degree of electrification.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For most of the discussions, Ms. Moore, you weren't at the meetings.  You are a recent addition to the working group.  Right?

MS. MOORE:  That would be correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am right in saying that, generally speaking, OEB Staff has not taken a position on the pilots or the elements of the pilots except to identify areas in which they may not be exactly consistent with OEB policy or the decision.  Is that right?

MS. MOORE:  On the point on OEB Staff, I am just going to take one moment to confer.  Thanks for the moment there, Mr. Shepherd.  We do believe based on our recollection OEB Staff did have comments on the elements of the pilots throughout the consultation process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They never said whether they supported it or not to your knowledge?

MS. MOORE:  Well, they are -- they do run the working group and we had circulated the draft of the letter and there was agreement amongst the working group with the language that we had used.  So, that...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We'll leave them to speak for themselves.  The last question is:  Am I right in saying that the working group was very strongly of the view, almost everyone on the working group, that you should a pilot as quickly as possible, and if the only one that was viable was Southern Lake Huron you should got ahead with it, even though it's not perfect.  Is that fair?

MS. MOORE:  That's fair.  I mean, the working group, as well as Enbridge, has a desire to launch the pilot as quickly as possible and I do recall that it was noted at the working group that, you know, let's not let the perfect be the enemy of the good here and move forward and be able to really benefit from the learnings that we are going to be achieving on demand-side IRPAs through this pilot.  So, I would agree with that characterization, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, Julie, for interrupting.  I hope I was helpful.

MS. GIRVAN:  It's okay.  Thanks, Jay.  I just had a quick question, you've spoken before with some of the other parties about you're going to do an annual update and to share your learnings, and you're going to file that and, within the context of the ESM DVA proceeding, and am I correct at that?

MS. MOORE:  Yes, sorry, Allison Moore.  So we are intending to include an annual update in our annual report that is filed each year and then have a final report that is prepared and available at the end of 2027.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what would be the purpose of filing it in the DVA ESM proceeding?  Would it be just simply informational?  Or would you be seeking input from intervenors and potentially the Board?

MS. MOORE:  The purpose of a filing, the information in the annual report more broadly, is to provide information to all stakeholders as well as the OEB.  And through that process, we could be asked questions on the annual report and this report on the pilot and its progress, more specifically, to address questions through that proceeding.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could you turn to CCC 13, please?  And I just had a couple of questions around the incentive for residential customers.  Is the maximum -- I just want to confirm, because I think I have seen that in the answer down below, there is some flexibility that -- potentially increasing the cap on the maximum of $15,000 per participant.

Can you just confirm that it is not -- essentially not a cap?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  Sorry, I just want to understand your question, Julie.  The intent when we launched the offer is that that would be the cap.  What we are saying is we have the flexibility to change it, if we need.  Does that answer your question?

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, so -- yes, I guess so.  So the starting, the first year that I guess it is 2026, that customers will receive incentives, it is going to be capped at $15,000?

MR. JOHNSON:  That is correct; that is our starting point.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then, to change it, would you have to come back to the Board?

MR. JOHNSON:  So our expectation is we would not --


MR. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. JOHNSON:  -- within -- to be clear, within the rules that we have outlined.

MS. GIRVAN:  And do you see potentially increasing it?  Like, why would you increase it?

MR. JOHNSON:  So I think you had two questions in there.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Do we foresee changing it at this point?  No, that is why we have we have set it, that is what we think is appropriate.  What would warrant a change is if we didn't get uptake.  And the goal is to test, you know, customers actually participating.  So if we didn't get the level of uptake we were hoping, then we would consider changing it at that time.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And what component of that is related to this pilot?  Is it the $5,000 over and above what is offered through the other program, the DSM program.

MR. JOHNSON:  Sorry, I didn't understand that question.

MS. GIRVAN:  So don't you have a $10,000 limit now, through your DSM program, per participant?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So is the $5,000 specifically related to the measures that are involved in this pilot?

MR. JOHNSON:  The cap would be for participants in this pilot; it would be $15,000 instead of $10,000.

MS. GIRVAN:  But how much of it would be related to those particular technologies?  Do you see what I am saying?

MR. JOHNSON:  So maybe the thing to clarify, and I might turn to Geoff here to help do a better job than I will.  But if someone is participating in the pilot project --


MR. GIRVAN:   Yes.

MR. JOHNSON: ...with these measures, then all of the funding would come from the IRP pilot.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and not through the other DSM program?

MR. JOHNSON:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But part of what a customer might do are the components of that program?

MR. JOHNSON:  Yes, that -- if you are referring to measures that are not part of this pilot.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. JOHNSON:  Then, yes.

MR. GIRVAN:  Yes, okay.  Okay.  I just wanted to be sure where the funding is coming from.  So if you are participating in this program, it is all coming from the funding related to this program.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  Yes, that is correct.  All the funding would be --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think I understand.

If you could please turn to exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 33?  And you -- sorry, I will wait until you get there.  Okay, thanks.

So you were talking to Mr. Jarvis about evaluation, and I just wanted to be clear how you are going to assess the sort of outcome of this pilot.  So if you have for example under the first enhanced DSM, you have 741 customers in 2025.  The estimated peak reduction is 179.7 cubic metre per hour.

And I just wondered, how will you say whether or not that actually happened?  So this is your assumption going in, but how will you assess whether that level of participants actually had a peak reduction of that amount?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis Lubbers:  So Julie, that is with -- through having the ERT data, the baseline data for each one of those customers.  And then the post-ETEE measures will also do a study on the customer's usage.

MR. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. LUBBERS:  And that is spelled out through some of the evidence in D1.2 and D1.3.  Basically, we are going to do a linear regression on each customer before and after the measures, and determine by customer and by grouping and by measure the changes in those customer usages, and what the forecasted usage would be on the design day temperature.  And that is going to be correlated and basically assessed to the estimated peak reduction in this table.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that is different than what -- the way you evaluate DSM.  It is basically done on engineering assumptions, and for each of the measures.  Correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you are actually measuring; okay, that is fine.  And I just wondered, my last question is do you have a projection for 2027?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  Sorry, a projection on what exactly?

MS. GIRVAN:  Just another column, for 2027.

MR. CHUNG:  So the program --


MS. GIRVAN:  If you've got one.

MR. CHUNG:   Yes.  So the programming would essentially run until the end of 2026.  And so the amounts that would be in 2027 would probably be the amounts listed in the 2026 column.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you are just bringing on participants in those two years?

MR. CHUNG:  That is what we have in the timeline, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, very much, Julie.

It is now 3:25.  Next up would be Board Staff and Schools.  David, I am going to put myself in your hands.  I am happy to take a 10-minute break now, and then finish up with Staff and Schools.  Any thoughts?

MR. STEVENS:  I am seeing lots of nods around the room, so I think you are making friends, here.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  That is why I am here.  So let's take a break now.  It is 3:25.  You know what?  I am going to give you until 3:40, and we will reconvene then.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:25 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:41 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am going to turn things over to Ms. Cheng who will be asking questions on behalf of Board Staff.
Examination by Ms. Cheng


MS. CHENG:  Thanks, Jamie.  Can everyone hear me okay?  Okay.  So, my very first clarification is regarding project need and project selection which relates to two references.  So, the very first reference is the project update summary in Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 1.  And as you are pulling that up, this was further discussed in Enbridge's IR responses to ED 2 which we don't have to pull up at the same time.

Basically at ED 2 there are exhibits that include the IRP working group meeting materials and notes, and specific to this question and the slide deck from IRP working group meeting materials number 35, a detailed SRP update, impact to the AMP and IRP pilot scope and alternatives.  And so, from these two references Enbridge notes that it refreshed its system reinforcement plan in 2024 and I identified that the underlying system needs for the baseline facility alternatives for Parry Sound and Southern Lake Huron were pushed out of its 10 year capital forecast.

With that said, can you please clarify whether Enbridge re-executed its IRP evaluation process to identify and consider other potential projects apart from Parry Sound and Southern Lake Huron?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  No, we did not go back to look at incremental investments in great detail.  We had an initial meeting with the technical working group in March of 2024 to discuss our path forward and even from that initial meeting I think there was, you know, recognition of the significant value of the ERTs in Southern Lake Huron that presented a unique opportunity to provide efficiencies from both a budget and a timeline perspective in the piloting of demand-side IRPAs as per the application.  And so, that really drove a lot of our focus there.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  Thank you.  So, why did Enbridge not use this opportunity to re-execute the IRP evaluation process to identify potential second IRP pilot projects, as required by the IRP decision on July 22, 2021 under EB-2020-0091?  I understand that we proceeded with the Southern Lake Huron because of the reasons that you just described, but why didn't Enbridge decide to use this as an opportunity to explore other potential projects that would be suitable for an IRP pilot?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  So, as I had noted, the presence of ERTs in Southern Lake Huron really provided a unique opportunity to make it the optimal candidate for piloting demand side alternatives and the pilot application meets the spirit of the IRP framework in its original key objectives.  We don't feel a second pilot is required to comply with the spirit of the OEB's expectation.  As a requirement -- and that the application before the Board is optimal to allow us to drive learnings towards those two objectives that have been consistent throughout this application process and provide the optimal location to achieve that as a single geography with recognition of the significant time and budget benefits of focusing on Southern Lake Huron at this time.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think I am going to move on to my second question.  So, if I can please have you pull up the project update summary under Exhibit A, Tab 3, Schedule 10 of 11, paragraph 25.  Okay.  So, in this paragraph, Enbridge defined the geographic area covered by the Southern Lake Huron pilot project by targeting all of the City of Sarnia and the village of Point Edward to leverage existing ERTs technology thereby avoiding additional installation and to potentially increase participation by implementing enhanced DSM measures across a larger Southern Lake Huron pilot project area.  How much of the refined Southern Lake Huron pilot area consists of new customers outside of the geographic scope of the original pilot area, say, in approximate customer numbers?  And how much of the original Southern Lake Huron communities have been eliminated from the original pilot region and approximate customer numbers.  Is that something you can direct me to in the evidence?

MR. LUBBERS:  Kurtis.  Stephanie, I am a little confused when you say new customers.  Are you referring to the table of our future customer attachments?  I believe it's --


MS. CHENG:  No.  So -- sorry.  So, basically the original pilot region changed, it use to be greater Southern Lake Huron and then the area of influence.  So, all of that changed to this new area.  And I just wanted to get a better understanding of how much of that total pilot region reach of potential customers, how much of that has really changed from the original pilot area versus the new one?

MS. MOORE:  Allison Moore.  So, just to confirm, you are asking what is the difference in the number of customers from the original area of influence that was targeted versus the new pilot application?

MS. CHENG:  Yes.  Just to get an understanding of how much has really changed.  Like, how many -- say there was only 100 customers in the original pilot and now there is a 1,000.  How many of those 100 in the beginning are still part of that?  How many were dropped off type of deal.  Just to get a general flavour for how much it has changed.

MS. MOORE:  So, I should just clarify that, one:  The target area for the Southern Lake Huron pilot is targeting Sarnia and Point Edward for the enhanced targeted energy efficiency and demand response offerings now.  In the original application the demand response offering was targeting this area as well as Plympton Wyoming and the commercial/industrial component of the enhanced targeted energy efficiency was also targeting this broader area.  It was -- so, there were different offerings that were targeting different areas, so I just want to make sure that I am clear on the specifics of -- so, as opposed to looking it up on a per offering basis are you looking at it from what was the area of influence in the original application versus -- and the number of the customers there versus in the new application?

MS. CHENG:  I think I just -- if that information is available by program like you said that would be helpful, but it was just to get a flavour for how much of the area and the reach of the customers has really changed.  Because there is a secondary question that elaborates on that and maybe I will share that with you first, so that maybe it can help you decide what information needs to be provided in order to answer the second question.  And so, that second question is:  Has Enbridge considered the impact of that geographic change on the Southern Lake Huron pilot project on its marketing plan and outreach efforts.  Like, are there differences in the mix of the customer classes building vintages?  And so, how applicable are these marketing efforts and outreach efforts that you have executed to date to the new customers that are now in scope for your new pilot area?

And, like, has Enbridge begun its outreach efforts to these new customers that are in this new pilot area, to gauge their interest in participating in these pilot programs.  I know that was a lot.  So I can review some of it, but just to give you some context as to why I asked the question.

MS. MOORE:  That is okay.  I am just going to take a moment to confer with the panel, to ensure that we are clear on the evidentiary reference for the approximate number of customers targeted.  Just one moment.

[Witness panel confers]


Hi, there.  Thanks for that moment.  So we do have in ED 2 ‑‑ it might be helpful to take us there:  ED, page 269 of 294.  Sorry, attachment ‑‑ in attachment 1.

And maybe, while we are going there, and just that that slide that was presented to the technical working group -- and again, it is on page 269 of 294 -- this just provides a map that shows the original area of influence versus the greater Sarnia area, and provides the umber of approximately 4,000 residential and commercial customers that were in that area of influence.

But I am wondering if what might be more beneficial or what you really would be seeking is more of a table that kind of is the from/to, just in the interests of your question.

MS. CHENG:  One second.  I am just kind of waiting for them to pull it up.

But when you are referencing the table that you are able to provide, can you clarify what would be in that table?

MS. MOORE:  Sure.  So it provide a map which displays the original area of influence, where ‑‑ sorry, it is up there now -- where the enhanced targeted energy efficiency for residential was intended to be originally targeted, versus that broader outline where demand response was originally going to be targeted, as well as the enhanced targeted energy efficiency for commercial-industrial customers.

So I am wondering if what might ‑‑ and you can see there, under the table in terms of scale and customer mix, we had identified that there were approximately 4,000 customers in that targeted area of influence.  But I am wondering if what might be more beneficial is more of, like, a tabular format?

MS. CHENG:  So basically what you have shown here is what was in the original pilot area for Southern Lake Huron.  So if you gave something comparable to the new pilot area, just so we can see a difference in, like, customer numbers or whatnot, we can see how much of a change it is going to be?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Stephanie.  It is David Stevens:  We can provide by way of undertaking a table which shows the number of customers in the original area of influence and, in the expanded and updated Southern Lake Huron project.  And, where possible, we will break it down by customer class.

MS. CHENG:  That would be great.  Are you able to comment a little bit more on my second question about the impact of this geographic change on its marketing plan and outreach efforts?  Moreso, like, is there a major difference in the mix of customer classes and building vintages?

And just how applicable are the efforts that you have taken to date for marketing and outreach to the old customers versus, I guess, the whole geographic area now, of this new Southern Lake Huron pilot area?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just before anyone answers that --

MS. CHENG:  Sorry.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- I am going to give that undertaking a number:  JT1.23.

MS. CHENG:  Sorry, Jamie.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is okay.
UNDERTAKING JT1.23:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE WHICH SHOWS THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS IN THE ORIGINAL AREA OF INFLUENCE, AND IN THE EXPANDED AND UPDATED SOUTHERN LAKE HURON PROJECT; WHERE POSSIBLE, BROKEN DOWN BY CUSTOMER CLASS

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry.  And with that, do the witnesses have some comment on the subsequent question around the marketing approach and the marketing budget?

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson:  So yes, we don't ‑‑ I mean, again, we haven't detailed out everything in terms of how we are going to market.  We have a number of ideas.  We don't see any major changes as a result of the change in the pilot area.

And in terms of the second part of your question, we haven't begun marketing to our customers for this, yet.  So there is nothing lost, there.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  But you don't foresee major changes.  And from, I guess, just to clarify it, it would be kind of like there hasn't been significant change in the mix of customer classes or building vintages with this change in the geographic area of Southern Lake Huron.  Is that correct?

MR. JOHNSON:  I will maybe defer to others for the first part of that, but in terms of if there has been a change in the customer classifications, but we don't see a major change in terms of the marketing.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  Yes, I would just also point you to exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 2, on page 9, which would have a breakdown on the demographics.  So it would answer your question in terms of the differences, the general differences between -- on building vintages.  But we have not necessarily had any differences, in terms of engagement, on that end.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  That is helpful.  Thanks.  I think I am going to move on to the next question.

If we could please pull up exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3 of 6.  Thank you.  So from here, the table, Enbridge plans to spend approximately $1.5 million on limited advanced technologies and about $355K on limited electrification measures, nothing that most of the electrification, promotional and delivery costs will be captured as part of the ETEE enhanced DSM cost.

So in Enbridge's response to Staff IR 10 -- we can pull that up if we would like -- Enbridge notes that that $355K only represents costs associated with incremental incentives, overhead and promotion.  And they explicitly state in their response that this $0.3 million cannot be directly compared to the $1.4 million or $1.5 million for advanced technologies, as most of the promotion and delivery costs for electrification are captured under enhanced DSM offering.

So, in order to provide a more accurate comparison of cost between the limited electrification and limited advanced technology measures, can you please clarify by way of undertaking how much does Enbridge plan to spend on electrification versus advanced technology?  And how does Enbridge plan to spend on promotion and delivery of electrification versus advanced technology measures?

Are they planning to prorate an appropriate share of its DSM costs to electrification?

And the purpose of asking all this is that we can then answer the question of:  Is the anticipated cost comparable between the two measures of electrification versus advanced technologies?  And are the anticipated costs in line with anticipated peak savings for each measure that it is expected to generate?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Stephanie.  It is David Stevens speaking.  So, I just want to ask the witnesses a couple questions.  First of all, are you able to provide information about how much is planned to be spent on each of electrification and advance technology?  Not here now, but by way of undertaking.

MR. JOHNSON:  Daniel Johnson.  Yes, so I guess we weren't perhaps clear in the response.  What we were trying to explain in the response is that because the -- our expectation is that marketing for sort of standard enhanced -- standard enhanced is a bit of strange word, but our regular DSM enhanced energy efficiency options versus our electrification, ones all of that would be done at once.  We can't really split out the marketing and promotional piece of that.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.

MR. JOHNSON:  So, that is what we tried to convey in the response.  So, I am not sure if we did a good job of that or if I am misunderstanding your question or your request.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just interrupt?  I don't understand how you can't allocate a cost that has two purposes between those two purposes.  You do it all the time.

MR. STEVENS:  But the question, Jay, is how much is Enbridge planning to spend for promotion and I think what Daniel has just said is Enbridge hasn't turned their mind to that.  Enbridge has a marketing plan right now that doesn't distinguish between the two.  So, sure, ultimately they could be allocated once you know what you have done but have they planned?  It sounds like no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and I am asking them can they estimate?  Because, I mean, an important fact in this case is:  Is there a correct balance in spending between the various goals which is what OEB Staff is asking about.  And it seems that Enbridge should be able to provide an estimate that is sufficiently close that we will understand it.

MR. STEVENS:  I will turn it back to the witnesses.  I heard that Enbridge hasn't done that.

MR. JOHNSON:  It is a fair question in terms of could we make an estimate.  I think we can make an estimate.  But I think it would be very limited in terms of the accuracy of that estimate in that if you are doing something standalone, obviously there would be a much greater cost than if you were to allocate a portion of a much larger budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  I understand that, although you could obviously just split it up based on the amount of the incentives, I suppose.  I mean, there is lots of ways you could do it.  The point is if you put your assumptions in and provide a number then the OEB can figure out what to conclude from it, I think.  If you're willing to do that.

MR. STEVENS:  On that basis, Jay, we are prepared to provide an undertaking as to how much Enbridge Gas plans to spend on electrification measures and on advanced technology measures for the Southern Lake Huron pilot project, along with an estimate of the amount that would be spent on marketing for each of these sets of measures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome, thank you.  Sorry to interrupt.

MR. STEVENS:  Is that acceptable, Stephanie?

MS. CHENG:  Yes, that is.  Thank you very much.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, David.  That's JT1.24.
UNDERTAKING JT1.24:  TO ADVISE AS TO HOW MUCH ENBRIDGE GAS PLANS TO SPEND ON ELECTRIFICATION MEASURES AND ON ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY MEASURES FOR THE SOUTHERN LAKE HURON PILOT PROJECT, ALONG WITH AN ESTIMATE OF THE AMOUNT THAT WOULD BE SPENT ON MARKETING FOR EACH OF THESE SETS OF MEASURES.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  I think I am ready to move on to my next set of questions.  So, can we please pull up Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 1.  This will be kind of quick.  So, over in this reference Enbridge provides details on the Southern Lake Huron cost and economics.  And so, with the revision of the scope of the Southern Lake Huron pilot project, can you please clarify how Enbridge proposes to account for costs that have already been incurred to reach the communities and customers that are no longer part of the Southern Lake Huron pilot area?  I think we kind of touched upon this with the similar question, I think from Mike, earlier about the withdrawal of Parry Sound and how all those costs are going to be handled, but I just wanted to clarify if it would be similar in this situation.

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  You are right we did touch on this briefly earlier.  So, the Parry Sound costs are not included within this application for approval.  But those costs will be put forward as part of the IRP O&M deferral account, O&M and capital deferral account for clearance and disposition as part of the proceeding in 2024.

MS. CHENG:  And so, would you take a similar approach for any costs that haven't already been incurred for any of, say, your marketing or just other costs that you have incurred that relates to, I guess, customers that you are trying to reach in that Southern Lake Huron -- in the Southern Lake Huron pilot project area that has changed?  Like, for example, I think there is a section that you are no longer -- I think you guys had a letter of support and stuff like that.  So, I am just wondering if there is efforts that you have taken now that are no longer, I guess, applicable with the change in the pilot area and how you plan to manage those costs?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  Yes, so the costs related to Southern Lake Huron that have already been incurred are included in the table 1, I guess, as you see in this exhibit.  The costs in 2023 and 2024 would reflect any costs that have already been incurred within this pilot area.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  That's okay.  So, can we now move on to Exhibit E, Tab 1, Schedule 1, page 6, paragraph 12.  So, Enbridge mentions using a third party consultant for data collection and analysis for pilot learnings and has included placeholder estimate of costs in, I guess, table 1, in attachment 1 which has the table of O&M costs.

So, can Enbridge please clarify whether it has reached out to any potential consultants to do this work and, if so, did Enbridge obtain vendor quotes to estimate these costs and has Enbridge started the data collection and analysis work?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  Can we take a moment to confer?

[Witness panel confers.]


Whitney Wong.  So, you had quite a few pieces in there, so hopefully I recall all the areas that you were asking about.  In terms of getting preliminary quotes to help support the development of the budgets, we did reach out to some contractors for that initial quote.  But moving forward with the pilot upon OEB decision and approval we'll be proceeding with a formal RFP process to make sure we have a level playing field for selecting the appropriate contractor to support the work.  And then I think the other piece you had mentioned was data collection.  So, some of that work relates to the meter reading as well, so some of these costs have been incurred.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  So, all the work that is done to date, I guess, would be internal and it doesn't have any, I guess, these third-party consultants because you haven't formally signed a contract with any of them?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong.  Yes, that is correct.  We have not signed any contracts related to the third-party contractor support.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  Thanks.  We can now move on to the next question.  Can we please pull up exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3, page 3, paragraph 8?  So, in here, Enbridge notes that 50 hourly measurement devices would be required for the larger C&I customers within the pilot area.  However, installation will only be initiated for customers who express an interest in participating in the proposed ETEE programming, since the procurement and installation of devices is custom.  And Enbridge plans to initiative engagement of larger C&I customers in 2024.

So can we please clarify how many new measurement devices are assumed in the estimated cost, and how Enbridge determined the quantity and cost of that?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  So as part of the budget as mentioned here, we were expecting about 50 customers to require additional metering.  So that is what has been budgeted accordingly, for the metering cost.

In terms of I guess the number 50, it is based on our uptake rates, which I think Geoff could speak a little bit more to.  And then in terms of the cost of the actual meter reading, we have is engaged with our engineering groups to determine at a high level what a typical cost to install hourly measurement on these customers would be, and use that as a reference point to determine the budgets.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  So just to clarify, so there is more than I guess 50 larger C&I customers that could be potentially engaged in this pilot.  But you are just anticipating that you might get 50 larger C&I participants.  Is that correct?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  Can we have moment to confer?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  So there are about 300 larger customers within this area, and we had forecasted that through this initial engagement we would target about 10 percent of those customers, or about 10 percent of those customer may uptake, in our programming.  This was sort of a starting point, to allow us to budget for appropriate metering for these customers.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  Thanks for clarifying that.

I guess, with that said, you did mention that your engagement of larger C&I customers will start in 2024.  So can you please clarify whether you have initiated this engagement and, if so, how many larger C&I customers have you reached out to, to date, roughly, and how many have kind of expressed an interest in participating?

And have you begun the procurement and installation of those devices for any of those larger C&I customers that have expressed an interest in participating?

MR. CHUNG:  Geoff Chung:  So we have just started some of the activities to reach out to some of these larger commercial-industrial customers.  But we do not at this point in time have a number in terms of ones that have expressed interest.  So we are still in the progress of going down this line of activities.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  So that answers that.  Okay.

Let's move on to the next set of questions, then.  Can we please pull up exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1?  And so as you can see on the screen there, Enbridge has provided a quarterly Southern Lake Huron pilot project timeline from 2023 to 2027.

Can Enbridge please clarify whether it has or plans to develop a formal detailed project plan and timeline that lays out its marketing and outreach activities for each type of IRPA, where it might have, like, milestones, touchpoints with various stakeholders, and how this process will evolve throughout the pilot project, from the data analysis and learnings?

MR. JOHNSON:  Can we have moment to confer?

[Witness panel confers.]


Daniel Johnson.  So I can confirm, we do not have that at this point.  And as we are still in the process of proposing this and waiting for a decision, I think, until we have that decision.  Then we would figure out what level of detail we were going to plan this at.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  So once you have the decision, is that something that you would think Enbridge will start creating and, if so, do you plan on sharing this with interested parties like intervenors and IRP working group?

MR. JOHNSON:  So perhaps I wasn't clear.  So I don't think we are committing to do the level of detail that you were talking about.  I think what we -- whatever planning that we do have, we would be willing to share.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  Okay.  So on a similar note, can we please pull up exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 3, page 10, paragraphs 33 and 34?

So on this page, Enbridge plans to report any pilot results and learnings through that IRP annual report.  And as the results become available on understanding impact on peak flow, design, deployment and evaluation of ETEE and DR, these results will be reported to the OEB and stakeholders.

So this was partially touched upon by Pollution Probe, about a governance committee.  But can you please clarify which stakeholders Enbridge is referring to in the statement, and is that inclusive of the IRP working group?

MS. WONG:  Whitney Wong:  I think we actually had an IR on this.  If we could go to Staff 23, which I think in part A confirms who the stakeholders are, which would be inclusive of the technical working group and obviously other intervenors.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  Thanks for clarifying that.  And so understanding who these stakeholders are, how often does Enbridge expect this communication to happen with these stakeholders, and what communication channels does Enbridge plan to use to communicate these findings and learnings.  Will it be done informally through e-mail?  Or more formally through, say, stakeholder webinars or IRP working group meetings?

MS. MOORE:  Hi, this is Alison Moore:  As stated in D of this response, we list out some examples of how that communication may be undertaken.  It will really be driven by the nature of what we are communicating and the nature of the stakeholder, so I wouldn't say there is a one-size-fits-all approach when it comes to communicating with our stakeholders.  It is really driven by the nature of what we are communicating and the consultation that we are looking to have.

MS. CHENG:  Thank you.  So, I guess with that response, can you please confirm whether Enbridge has or plans to develop a project plan or schedule of when pilot results and learnings will be communicated, just for the IRP working groups as one of the stakeholders you will be communicating with?  Is that something you plan to do or maybe it exists already?

And I guess -- sorry, I am going to add to that question because it is in the same line of thinking -- and does Enbridge plan on involving the IRP working group in its marketing and outreach efforts to gather feedback on which techniques have been working or what other technologies should Enbridge try to increase uptake and maximize learnings.  So, it is basically a question on does Enbridge have or plan to develop a more -- a project plan or schedule of how all of this communication will be done with the IRP working group?

MS. MOORE:  Alison Moore.  Thanks for the question.  So, I would say in terms of will a work plan be developed and will, specifically, I think one of your questions was a work plan be developed with the technical working group?  So, having a work plan is something that is a tenant of the technical working group, and as one of the responsibilities of OEB Staff in consultation with Enbridge, obviously, and members of the working group.

So, you know, I fully expect the -- and know the pilot project will be a key focus with the working group moving forward.  We actually have it as an agenda item in some upcoming meetings with the technical working group in 2024 in our rolling work plan that we have.

And in line with the role of the technical working group to provide input that is of value to Enbridge and the OEB, we fully expect to be bringing forward elements to the working group for their input in line with that mandate as it is, as we see that that is -- that will be beneficial.

One -- I think you commented specifically about marketing, so I wouldn't say that we have worked through, like, which elements in what order with which priority will be bringing forward to the working group.  That will be a component of our work plan that we'll be working through.  One element that we have noted in evidence just by way of example is as we conduct the detailed program planning and if there are any considerations around changes to incentive levels, for example, we have noted that in evidence.

So, that is just an example of an element that we are already, you know, contemplating how we will bring that forward.  But the details around the work plan and individual items with the technical working group haven't yet been mapped out.

MS. CHENG:  Okay.  Great.  Thanks for clarifying.  Well, thank you, panel.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks very much, Stephanie.  And last on the list today is Jay Shepherd for Schools.  Jay, go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, at the risk of disappointing everybody, I have asked all my questions already and I have no further questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  David, is anybody disappointed?  I think we are okay.  Well, given that, we have got 24 undertakings.  I assume that Enbridge will be on those as soon as possible.  I am not sure if there is a deadline in the procedural order for undertaking responses.  I apologize for that.

MR. STEVENS:  I think it is September 10th, Jamie.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And with that, I think we are concluded.  I take it no one else has any final issues, comments or anything?  Hearing none, we can close off the technical conference thanks very much everybody.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And thank you, Preet.
--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 4:26 p.m.
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